Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: December 13, 2019 ACCEPTED: January 14, 2020 PUBLISHED: February 7, 2020

Three-loop contributions to the ρ parameter and iterated integrals of modular forms

Samuel Abreu,^a Matteo Becchetti,^a Claude Duhr^b and Robin Marzucca^c

- ^a Center for Cosmology, Particle Physics and Phenomenology (CP3), Université Catholique de Louvain, Chemin du Cyclotron 2, 1348 Louvain-La-Neuve, Belgium
- ^b Theoretical Physics Department, CERN, Geneva, Switzerland
- ^cIPPP, Department of Physics, Durham University, South Rd, Durham DH1 3LE, U.K.
 - *E-mail:* samuel.abreu@uclouvain.be, matteo.becchetti@uclouvain.be, claude.duhr@cern.ch, robin.marzucca@durham.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We compute fully analytic results for the three-loop diagrams involving two different massive quark flavours contributing to the ρ parameter in the Standard Model. We find that the results involve exactly the same class of functions that appears in the well-known sunrise and banana graphs, namely elliptic polylogarithms and iterated integrals of modular forms. Using recent developments in the understanding of these functions, we analytically continue all the iterated integrals of modular forms to all regions of the parameter space, and in each region we obtain manifestly real and fast-converging series expansions for these functions.

KEYWORDS: Perturbative QCD, Scattering Amplitudes

ARXIV EPRINT: 1912.02747



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Notations and computational setting	3
3	eMPLs on the torus and on the elliptic curve	8
	3.1 Elliptic curves and elliptic functions	8
	3.2 Elliptic multiple polylogarithms	9
4	Evaluating $f_8^{(2)}$ in terms of eMPLs	11
5	eMPLs and iterated Eisenstein integrals	14
	5.1 Modular forms: a brief introduction	14
	5.2 Iterated Eisenstein integrals	16
6	The master integrals for topology A in the region $0 < t < 1$	19
7	Analytic continuation and numerical evaluation	23
	7.1 Analytic continuation	23
	7.2 Numerical evaluation of iterated integrals of modular forms	25
8	Three-loop contributions to the ρ parameter	29
9	Conclusion	31
\mathbf{A}	Differential equations for the non-elliptic master integrals	32
в	Dimension-shift identities for elliptic master integrals	32

1 Introduction

Multiloop Feynman integrals are a cornerstone of perturbative Quantum Field Theory, as they are the main mathematical building blocks for the computation of higher-order corrections to physical observables. For this reason, a lot of effort has been put in understanding their mathematical structure and the class of special functions to which they evaluate. For instance, unitarity dictates that Feynman integrals must be multivalued functions with logarithmic branch cuts, and this must be reflected in the corresponding class of functions.

A lot of progress was made over the last decade in understanding the simplest class of special functions that appear in multiloop computations. It was realised that many Feynman integrals can be evaluated in terms of multiple polylogarithms [1-3]. These functions

are by now well understood, including their analytic continuation to arbitrary kinematic regions and their efficient numerical evaluation for arbitrary complex arguments [4-7].

While multiple polylogarithms are sufficient to express all one-loop integrals in four space-time dimensions, it has been known for a long time that new classes of functions can appear starting from two-loop order. This was noted for the first time in the calculation of the two-loop corrections to the electron propagator in QED with massive electrons [8]. The simplest two-loop integral which cannot be expressed in terms of multiple polylogarithms is the so-called two-loop sunrise graph with three massive propagators, which has been extensively studied over the last decades [9–27]. Recent interest in the sunrise graph was fuelled to a large extend by the fact that the same type of functions appears in many higher-order calculations for the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) at CERN where the mass of the top quark cannot be neglected, see for example refs [28–36]. By now, several representations of the sunrise graph in terms of different classes of special functions are known. They all have in common that they involve functions related to elliptic curves, most prominently elliptic multiple polylogarithms and iterated integrals of modular forms.

Since elliptic functions seem to be a feature of many two-loop diagrams with massive propagators, it is natural to expect that these functions also prominently show up when performing calculations in the electroweak sector of the Standard Model (SM), where the gauge bosons and the fermions acquire a mass through the Higgs mechanism. In this paper we consider one of the precision observables of the electroweak SM, namely the corrections to the ρ parameter, defined as the difference between the vacuum polarisations of the Wand Z bosons. The ρ parameter is known through three-loop order in the SM in the limit where all quarks but the top quark are massless [37–43]. In ref. [44], corrections from three-loop diagrams were considered in the scenario where also the bottom quark has a non-vanishing mass. The results of ref. [44] where presented as an expansion in the ratio of the two quark masses. However, no closed analytic formula was presented, because the corresponding loop integrals were observed to involve functions of elliptic type, and at the time the theory of these functions was still largely underdeveloped.

While the series expansion of ref. [44] is sufficient to obtain reliable phenomenological predictions, it is interesting to revisit the computation of ref. [44] in the light of the recent developments in the understanding of elliptic Feynman integrals. In this way one can obtain fully analytic results at high-loop order for one of the most fundamental precision observables of the SM. First steps in this direction were taken in refs. [45, 46], where the elliptic Feynman integrals of ref. [44] were computed in terms of a class of new transcendental functions, called iterative non-iterative integrals. The relationship between these functions and the functions that appear in the different known representations of the sunrise graph is not fully clear. It is an interesting question if completely new classes of elliptic-type functions show up in the computation of the ρ parameter which are not covered by the existing literature on the sunrise graph and on elliptic polylogarithms and iterated integrals of modular forms.

The purpose of this paper is to show that all the Feynman integrals that contribute to the three-loop corrections to the ρ parameter with two massive quark flavours can be expressed in terms of exactly the same class of functions that appear in the sunrise graph. We show how all the elliptic Feynman integrals of ref. [44] can be performed in terms of iterated integrals of modular forms for the same congruence subgroup as for the sunrise integral. These iterated integrals can be analytically continued to the whole parameter space in such a way that they admit fast-converging series representations for all values of the quark masses.

Our paper is organised as follows: in section 2 we review the results of ref. [44] and we identify the elliptic Feynman integrals that need to be computed. In section 3 we introduce the mathematical background on elliptic curves and elliptic polylogarithms needed throughout the paper. In section 4 we present our first main result, and we show how to evaluate the Feynman parameter representation for the simplest elliptic Feynman integral in terms of elliptic polylogarithms. In section 5 we review the connection between elliptic polylogarithms and iterated integrals of modular forms, and in section 6 we use this relationship to obtain analytic results for all elliptic Feynman integrals that contribute to the three-loop ρ parameter in the region where the ratio of the quark masses is small. In section 7 we discuss the analytic continuation of these integrals to the whole parameter space. In section 8 we present our final analytic result for the ρ parameter at three loops, and in section 9 we draw our conclusions. We include several appendices where we collect formulas omitted throughout the main text.

2 Notations and computational setting

In this section we review the background to the three-loop QCD corrections to the electroweak ρ parameter with two massive quark flavours. We closely follow the presentation of ref. [44]. The ρ parameter can be written as:

$$\rho = 1 + \delta\rho, \tag{2.1}$$

where the higher-order corrections are given by

$$\delta\rho = \frac{\Sigma_Z(0)}{M_Z^2} - \frac{\Sigma_W(0)}{M_W^2}.$$
(2.2)

 $\Sigma_Z(0)$ and $\Sigma_W(0)$ are, respectively, the transverse parts of the Z and W boson propagators at zero momentum. They are defined as

$$\Sigma_{Z/W}(0) = \frac{g_{\mu\nu}}{d} \Pi_{Z/W}^{\mu\nu},$$
(2.3)

where $\Pi^{\mu\nu}_{Z/W}$ are the correlator functions for the Z and W bosons, and d is the space-time dimension.

We will consider the three-loop QCD corrections to the ρ parameter in n_f -flavour QCD with $n_f - 2$ massless quarks and two massive ones, whose masses we denote by m_1 and m_2 . In the SM, this corresponds to $n_f = 6$, and m_1 and m_2 denote the masses of the top and bottom quarks respectively. It is possible to write the higher-order corrections to the ρ parameter as an expansion in the strong coupling constant α_s :

$$\delta\rho = \frac{3G_F m_t^2}{16\pi^2 \sqrt{2}} \left(\delta^{(0)} + \frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{\pi} \delta^{(1)} + \left(\frac{\alpha_s(\mu)}{\pi}\right)^2 \delta^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_s(\mu)^3) \right),$$
(2.4)

where G_F is the Fermi constant and m_t is the top-quark $\overline{\text{MS}}$ -mass. We will choose the renormalisation scale as $\mu^2 = m_t^2$. The term $\delta^{(j)}$ involves graphs with j + 1 loops, and this paper is devoted to the calculation of certain three-loop masters appearing in $\delta^{(2)}$.

Using Integration-By-Parts (IBP) identities [47, 48], it is possible to reduce all threeloop integrals that contribute to $\delta^{(2)}$ to the computation of a small set of master integrals [44]. All but six of the master integrals were evaluated analytically in terms of multiple polylogarithms. The remaining integrals were shown to involve elliptic functions. They can be embedded in two six-propagator topologies which we call A and B, and which only differ by exchanging the roles of m_1 and m_2 (see figure 1). Topology A can be written as

$$\mathcal{J}_{a_1 a_2 a_3 a_4 a_5 a_6} = \int \mathcal{D}k_1 \mathcal{D}k_2 \mathcal{D}k_3 \frac{1}{D_1^{a_1} D_2^{a_2} D_3^{a_3} D_4^{a_4} D_5^{a_5} D_6^{a_6}}, \qquad (2.5)$$

where the propagators are defined as

$$D_1 = m_1^2 - k_1^2, \qquad D_2 = m_2^2 - k_2^2, \qquad D_3 = -k_3^2, \qquad D_4 = m_1^2 - (k_1 - k_3)^2, D_5 = -(k_2 - k_1)^2, \qquad D_6 = m_1^2 - (k_3 - k_2)^2.$$
(2.6)

We work in dimensional regularisation with $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$, and choose the measure

$$\mathcal{D}k_l = e^{\gamma_E \epsilon} \frac{d^d k_l}{i\pi^{d/2}} \,. \tag{2.7}$$

Topology A has ten master integrals, whose graphs we list in figure 1. It is convenient to introduce a variable t defined as¹

$$t = \frac{m_2^2}{m_1^2}.$$
 (2.8)

For concreteness, we will choose $m_2^2 < m_1^2$, i.e., 0 < t < 1. The case t > 1 can be obtained by analytic continuation, and we will discuss this at the end of the paper. Note that integrals from Topology *B* can be identified with integrals from Topology *A* with t > 1. Hence, it is sufficient to compute Topology *A* and to understand the analytic continuation to all positive values of *t*. We therefore only focus on Topology *A* with 0 < t < 1 in the first sections of this paper, and we only comment on Topology *B* when we discuss the analytic continuation of Topology *A* to t > 1. For the physical ρ parameter in the SM, we will be interested in topologies *A* and *B* evaluated at $t_{phys} = m_b^2/m_t^2$, with

$$t_{\rm phys} = m_{\rm b}^2 / m_{\rm t}^2 \sim 5 \cdot 10^{-4} \,.$$
 (2.9)

¹Here we depart from the conventions of ref. [44] where the results are written in terms of $x = m_2/m_1$.



Figure 1. Master integrals for the family of integrals defined in eq. (2.5). Dots denote squared propagators, blue (thick) lines denote propagators with mass m_1^2 , green (thin) lines denote propagators with mass m_2^2 , and dashed lines denote massless propagators.

It is convenient to work with the following basis of master integrals:

9 /

$$f_{1}(t) = \epsilon^{3} (m_{1}^{2})^{3\epsilon} \mathcal{J}_{0,2,0,2,0,2}, ,$$

$$f_{2}(t) = \epsilon^{3} (m_{1}^{2})^{3\epsilon} \mathcal{J}_{2,0,0,2,0,2}, ,$$

$$f_{3}(t) = \epsilon^{3} (\epsilon - 1) (m_{1}^{2})^{3\epsilon} \mathcal{J}_{0,2,1,2,0,1}, ,$$

$$f_{4}(t) = \epsilon^{3} (\epsilon - 1) (m_{1}^{2})^{3\epsilon} \mathcal{J}_{0,2,2,1,1,0}, ,$$

$$f_{5}(t) = \epsilon^{3} (\epsilon - 1) (m_{1}^{2})^{3\epsilon} \mathcal{J}_{2,0,2,0,1,1}, ,$$

$$f_{6}(t) = \epsilon^{3} (\epsilon - 1) (m_{1}^{2})^{3\epsilon} \mathcal{J}_{2,0,2,0,1,1}, ,$$

$$f_{7}(t) = \epsilon^{3} (\epsilon - 1) (m_{1}^{2})^{3\epsilon} \mathcal{J}_{2,2,1,1,0,1,2}, ,$$

$$f_{8}(t) = (m_{1}^{2})^{-2+3\epsilon} \mathcal{J}_{1,1,0,1,0,1}, ,$$

$$f_{9}(t) = (m_{1}^{2})^{-1+3\epsilon} \mathcal{J}_{1,2,0,1,0,1}, ,$$

$$f_{10}(t) = \epsilon^{4} (1 - \epsilon) (1 - 2\epsilon) (m_{1}^{2})^{3\epsilon} \mathcal{J}_{1,1,1,1,1,1}.$$
(2.10)

We have normalised all master integrals to be dimensionless, i.e., the functions f_i only depend on t.

An efficient way to compute the master integrals is to use differential equations [3, 49-52]. The master integrals f_1 through f_7 satisfy a system of differential equations in so-called canonical form [53]:

$$\partial_t f_a = \epsilon \, \frac{(A_0)_{ak}}{t} f_k + \epsilon \frac{(A_1)_{ak}}{t-1} f_k \,, \qquad 1 \le a, k \le 7 \,.$$
 (2.11)

 A_0 and A_1 are matrices of integer numbers, which we give explicitly in appendix A. The canonical form of the differential equation in eq. (2.11) makes it manifest that the functions (f_1,\ldots,f_7) can be expressed in terms of a well-studied class of special functions called multiple polylogarithms (MPLs) [1, 54]:

$$G(a_1, \cdots, a_n; x) = \int_0^x \frac{du}{u - a_1} G(a_2, \cdots, a_n; u), \quad G(x) = 1, \quad a_n \neq 0.$$
 (2.12)

In the case where $a_n = 0$, the naive recursive definition in eq. (2.12) is divergent, and we define instead,

$$G(\underbrace{0,\dots,0}_{n \text{ times}};x) = \frac{1}{n!} \log^n x.$$
 (2.13)

Since eq. (2.11) only has singularities at $t \in \{0, 1, \infty\}$, we only need to consider the case where $a_i \in \{0, 1\}$ in eq. (2.12), which defines a class of functions known as harmonic polylogarithms [2]. Solving eq. (2.11) in terms of MPLs is standard, and the analytic results can be found in ref. [44]. We will therefore not discuss these integrals any further, and we only mention that we find complete agreement with the results of ref. [44].

Let us now turn to the remaining master integrals f_8 , f_9 and f_{10} . It was already observed in ref. [44] that these integrals are not expressible in terms of MPLs. This can be seen from the perspective of differential equations. Before we discuss the form of the differential equations, it is convenient to change the basis of master integrals. More precisely, we consider the integrals f_8 and f_9 in $d = 2 - 2\epsilon$ dimensions where they are finite. We denote the corresponding master integrals in d = 2 dimensions by $f_8^{(2)}$ and $f_9^{(2)}$. The results in $d = 4-2\epsilon$ dimensions can be recovered from dimensional recurrence relations [55, 56], which we give explicitly in appendix B. Here we only mention that the poles in ϵ of f_8 and f_9 only involve MPLs, and the two-dimensional integrals $f_8^{(2)}$ and $f_9^{(2)}$ enter for the first time in the coefficient of ϵ^0 . It is therefore sufficient to compute $f_8^{(2)}$ and $f_9^{(2)}$ (where we set $\epsilon = 0$) to obtain their four-dimensional analogues, which leads to simplifications in our computations.

Let us now have a closer look at the differential equations satisfied by $f_8^{(2)}$ and $f_9^{(2)}$. The differential equations remain coupled in the limit $\epsilon = 0$. The corresponding homogeneous 2×2 system has the form

$$\partial_t f_{8,h}^{(2)} = -f_{9,h}^{(2)}, \partial_t f_{9,h}^{(2)} = \left(\frac{1}{12(t-9)} + \frac{1}{4(t-1)} - \frac{1}{3t}\right) f_{8,h}^{(2)} - \left(\frac{1}{t-9} + \frac{1}{t-1} + \frac{1}{t}\right) f_{9,h}^{(2)}.$$
(2.14)

It is convenient to transform this system into a second-order equation satisfied by $f_{8,h}^{(2)}$,

$$\mathcal{D}_t^2 f_{8,h}^{(2)} = 0, \qquad (2.15)$$

with

$$\mathcal{D}_t^2 = \partial_t^2 + \left(\frac{1}{t-9} + \frac{1}{t-1} + \frac{1}{t}\right)\partial_t + \left(\frac{1}{12(t-9)} + \frac{1}{4(t-1)} - \frac{1}{3t}\right).$$
 (2.16)

Remarkably, this differential operator is the same one as in the case of the sunrise integral with a massive external leg and three massive propagators of equal mass [13]. As a consequence, any element in the kernel of \mathcal{D}_t^2 can be written as a linear combination of the following two functions [13]:

$$\Psi_1(t) = \frac{8}{\sqrt{3 + 8\sqrt{t} + 6t - t^2}} \operatorname{K}(\lambda(t)), \quad \Psi_2(t) = \frac{16i}{\sqrt{3 + 8\sqrt{t} + 6t - t^2}} \operatorname{K}(1 - \lambda(t)), \quad (2.17)$$

where $\lambda(t)$ is given by

$$\lambda(t) = \frac{16\sqrt{t}}{3 + 8\sqrt{t} + 6t - t^2},\tag{2.18}$$

and K is the complete elliptic integral of the first kind,

$$K(\lambda) = \int_0^1 \frac{dt}{\sqrt{(1-t^2)(1-\lambda t^2)}} \,. \tag{2.19}$$

The functions in eq. (2.17) are respectively real and purely imaginary for 0 < t < 1. They can be analytically continued outside of this range [24, 57]. We will return to the analytic continuation in section 7.

Equation (2.17) is sufficient to construct the general solution to the homogeneous system in eq. (2.14). The Wronskian matrix of the system is

$$\mathcal{W}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \Psi_1(t) \ \Psi_2(t) \\ \Phi_1(t) \ \Phi_2(t) \end{pmatrix} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \Psi_1(t) \ \Psi_2(t) \\ \partial_t \Psi_1(t) \ \partial_t \Psi_2(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.20)

The general solution to the homogeneous equation then takes the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} f_{8,h}^{(2)} \\ f_{9,h}^{(2)} \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{W}(t) \begin{pmatrix} c_1 \\ c_2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad c_i \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(2.21)

While the solution of the homogeneous system in eq. (2.14) is well known, solving the inhomogeneous system satisfied by $f_8^{(2)}$, $f_9^{(2)}$ and f_{10} is not trivial. Here, we will compute $f_8^{(2)}$ from its Feynman parametric representation. From their definition in eq. (2.10), we see that $f_9^{(2)}$ is determined by the derivative of $f_8^{(2)}$ with respect to t. Once $f_8^{(2)}$ is known in an appropriate form, we can thus compute $f_9^{(2)}$ by differentiating $f_8^{(2)}$. Finally, we can compute f_{10} from the differential equation that it satisfies which reads

$$\partial_t f_{10} = \epsilon \frac{2}{1-t} f_{10} + \epsilon^4 \left[\frac{2}{t} \left(\zeta_3 - \text{Li}_3(1-t) \right) - \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{4}{1-t} + \frac{1}{2} \right) f_8^{(2)} + \frac{1}{1-t} \left(2\text{Li}_3(t) - \text{Li}_2(t) \log t - \frac{\pi^2}{6} \log t + \frac{10}{3} \zeta_3 \right) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^5) ,$$

$$(2.22)$$

where $\operatorname{Li}_n(t)$ denote the classical polylogarithms,

$$\operatorname{Li}_{n}(t) = -G(\underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{n-1}, 1; t), \qquad \zeta_{n} = \operatorname{Li}_{n}(1).$$
 (2.23)

We recall that f_{10} corresponds to the $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ integral, see eq. (2.10). We see that the homogeneous part of the differential equation in eq. (2.22) is in canonical form. Nevertheless, f_{10} cannot be expressed in terms of MPLs only, because it contains $f_8^{(2)}$ in the inhomogeneous term. We can thus determine f_{10} once $f_8^{(2)}$ is known analytically. Note that $f_9^{(2)}$ does not contribute to the differential equation for f_{10} through $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4)$, which is the order through which f_{10} enters the three-loop corrections to the ρ parameter. Before we discuss the computation of $f_8^{(2)}$, $f_9^{(2)}$ and f_{10} in the next section, let us mention that the system of differential equations satisfied by $f_8^{(2)}$ and $f_9^{(2)}$ was also analysed in refs. [45, 46]. There the corresponding second-order differential operator was not directly in a form which matches the one for the sunrise graph in eq. (2.16). As a consequence, the homogeneous solutions of refs. [45, 46] (i.e., the equivalent of our $f_{8,h}^{(2)}$ and $f_{9,h}^{(2)}$) take a different form, which cannot easily be recognised as being related to the sunrise graph.

3 eMPLs on the torus and on the elliptic curve

As mentioned in the previous section, our strategy for the computation of $f_8^{(2)}$, $f_9^{(2)}$ and f_{10} relies on obtaining an analytic solution for $f_8^{(2)}$ from its Feynman parametric representation. Before we discuss this in detail, we review in this section some of the mathematical background needed to perform all the integrals analytically. We keep the review to a strict minimum, and we refer to the literature for a more detailed discussion (see, e.g., refs. [58–60] and references therein).

3.1 Elliptic curves and elliptic functions

Let $P_n(x)$ be a polynomial of degree n. An elliptic curve can be defined (loosely) by the equation $y^2 = P_n(x)$ for n = 3, 4. In this paper we are naturally led to an elliptic curve defined by a cubic polynomial, so we will focus our discussion on the polynomial equation

$$y^{2} = P_{3}(x) = (x - a_{1})(x - a_{2})(x - a_{3}).$$
(3.1)

We call a_1 , a_2 and a_3 the branch points of the elliptic curve. Seen as points in \mathbb{CP}^2 and using homogeneous coordinates, the elliptic curve is given by the points [x, y, 1] that satisfy eq. (3.1), together with the point [0, 1, 0] on the infinity line. It is important to establish our conventions for the branches of the square root. Throughout this paper we follow ref. [58]: if the branch points are real and ordered as $a_1 < a_2 < a_3$, then

$$y = \sqrt{P_3(x)} = \sqrt{|P_3(x)|} \times \begin{cases} -i, \ x \le a_1, \\ 1, \ a_1 < x \le a_2, \\ i, \ a_2 < x \le a_3, \\ -1, \ a_3 < x. \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

Some ubiquitous quantities that appear in the study of elliptic curves are the *periods* ω_i ,

$$\omega_1 = 2c_3 \int_{a_1}^{a_2} \frac{dx}{y} = 2 \operatorname{K}(\lambda), \qquad \omega_2 = 2c_3 \int_{a_3}^{a_2} \frac{dx}{y} = 2i \operatorname{K}(1-\lambda), \qquad (3.3)$$

with $K(\lambda)$ defined in eq. (2.19), and the quasi-periods η_i ,

$$\eta_{1} = \frac{1}{4} \int_{a_{1}}^{a_{2}} \frac{dx}{c_{3}y} \left(\frac{s_{1}(\vec{a})}{3} - x\right) = \mathcal{E}(\lambda) - \frac{2-\lambda}{3} \mathcal{K}(\lambda),$$

$$\eta_{2} = \frac{1}{4} \int_{a_{3}}^{a_{2}} \frac{dx}{c_{3}y} \left(\frac{s_{1}(\vec{a})}{3} - x\right) = -i \mathcal{E}(1-\lambda) + \frac{1+\lambda}{3} \mathcal{K}(1-\lambda),$$
(3.4)

where

$$c_3 = \frac{\sqrt{a_{31}}}{2}, \qquad a_{ij} = a_i - a_j, \qquad \lambda = \frac{a_{12}}{a_{13}}, \qquad s_1(\vec{a}) = a_1 + a_2 + a_3.$$
 (3.5)

 $E(\lambda)$ denotes the complete elliptic integral of the second kind,

$$E(\lambda) = \int_0^1 \sqrt{\frac{1 - \lambda t^2}{1 - t^2}} dt \,.$$
(3.6)

The periods and quasi-periods are related by the Legendre relation:

$$\omega_1 \eta_2 - \omega_2 \eta_1 = -i\pi \,. \tag{3.7}$$

Every elliptic curve is isomorphic to a complex torus. More precisely, if we define

$$\tau = \frac{\omega_2}{\omega_1},\tag{3.8}$$

then the points in \mathbb{CP}^2 that satisfy eq. (3.1) are isomorphic to the quotient $\mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}$ where the two-dimensional lattice Λ_{τ} is defined as

$$\Lambda_{\tau} = \mathbb{Z} + \mathbb{Z} \tau = \{ m + n \tau \, | \, m, n \in \mathbb{Z} \} . \tag{3.9}$$

Note that τ can always be chosen to lie in the complex upper half-plane $\mathbb{H} = \{\tau \in \mathbb{C} : \text{Im } \tau > 0\}$. We can construct a map from the torus to the elliptic curve with a function

$$\mu\left(\cdot,\vec{a}\right):\mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}\to\mathbb{C}\,,\tag{3.10}$$

which satisfies the differential equation $(c_3 \mu'(z, \vec{a}))^2 = P_3(\mu(z, \vec{a}))$. A point z on the torus is then mapped to the point $[\mu(z, \vec{a}), c_3 \mu'(z, \vec{a}), 1]$ on the elliptic curve. The precise form of $\mu(z, \vec{a})$ is not relevant for this paper and we refer the reader to ref. [58] for a more explicit definition. We can also define a map which assigns to a point $[x_0, y_0, 1]$ on the elliptic curve defined by $y^2 = P_3(x)$ a point $z_{x_0} \in \mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}$,

$$z_{x_0} \equiv \frac{c_3}{\omega_1} \int_{\infty}^{x_0} \frac{dx}{y} \mod \Lambda_{\tau} .$$
(3.11)

3.2 Elliptic multiple polylogarithms

A natural class of functions to consider when working with Feynman integrals are *elliptic* multiple polylogarithms (eMPLs). Loosely speaking, eMPLs can be thought of as a class of iterated integrals that generalises the complete elliptic integrals of eqs. (2.19) and (3.6), in the same way that the MPLs in eq. (2.12) generalise the logarithm.

Since we have two ways of describing an elliptic curve — as a torus $\mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}$ or as a set of points in \mathbb{CP}^2 — there are also two equivalent ways of defining eMPLs. We start by defining them in terms of iterated integrals along a path on the torus as [61, 62]

$$\tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}n_1 \cdots n_k\\z_1 \cdots z_k; z, \tau\end{pmatrix} = \int_0^z dz' g^{(n_1)} (z' - z_1, \tau) \tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}n_2 \cdots n_k\\z_2 \cdots z_k; z', \tau\end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.12)

The integer k is called the *length*, $n_i \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\sum_i n_i$ is the *weight*. The integration kernels $g^{(n_i)}(z,\tau)$ are defined through the Eisenstein-Kronecker series,

$$F(z,\tau,\alpha) = \frac{1}{\alpha} \sum_{n>0} g^{(n)}(z,\tau)\alpha^n = \frac{\theta_1'(0,\tau)\theta_1(z+\alpha,\tau)}{\theta_1(z,\tau)\theta_1(\alpha,\tau)},$$
(3.13)

where θ_1 is the Jacobi theta function and θ'_1 is its derivative with respect to the first argument. We refer the reader to e.g. section 3.2.1 of ref. [62] for an explicit definition and a discussion of some basic properties of θ_1 .

Unlike what happens for the MPLs in eq. (2.12), there is an infinite number of kernels one must consider for eMPLs. While all these kernels are necessary for the study of this class of functions, in any particular calculation of a Feynman integral only a limited set will be relevant. As we will see below, only $g^{(1)}(z,\tau)$ is relevant in our case. From now on we focus on this kernel and refer the reader to ref. [61] for a more complete exposition. First, we note that $g^{(1)}(z,\tau)$ has a simple pole with unit residue at each point of Λ_{τ} . Iterated integrals over this kernel will thus only have logarithmic singularities. In particular, some of the integrals in eq. (3.12) may be divergent and require regularisation. We refer the reader to ref. [62] for details on how this procedure can be implemented. Second, $g^{(1)}(z,\tau)$ is odd under $z \to -z$, i.e., $g^{(1)}(-z,\tau) = -g^{(1)}(z,\tau)$. Moreover $g^{(1)}(z,\tau)$ is not periodic under translations in both directions of the lattice Λ_{τ} :

$$g^{(1)}(z+1,\tau) = g^{(1)}(z,\tau), \qquad g^{(1)}(z+\tau,\tau) = g^{(1)}(z,\tau) - 2\pi i.$$
 (3.14)

Finally, it is possible to write a closed form for the total differential of an eMPL. The total differential for $\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\vec{A}; z, \tau\right)$, where $\vec{A} = (A_1 \cdots A_k) = \begin{pmatrix} n_1 \cdots n_k \\ z_1 \cdots z_k \end{pmatrix}$, is given by [60]

$$d\tilde{\Gamma}(A_{1}\cdots A_{k};z,\tau) = \sum_{p=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{n_{p+1}} \tilde{\Gamma}\Big(A_{1}\cdots A_{p-1} {}_{0}^{0} A_{p+2}\cdots A_{k};z,\tau\Big) \omega_{p,p+1}^{(n_{p}+n_{p+1})}$$
(3.15)
+ $\sum_{p=1}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{n_{p+1}+1} \Big[\Big({}_{n_{p-1}+r-1}^{n_{p-1}-1} \Big) \tilde{\Gamma}\Big(A_{1}\cdots A_{p-1}^{[r]} \hat{A}_{p} A_{p+1}\cdots A_{k};z,\tau\Big) \omega_{p,p-1}^{(n_{p}-r)}$
- $\Big({}_{n_{p+1}-1}^{n_{p+1}-1} \Big) \tilde{\Gamma}\Big(A_{1}\cdots A_{p-1} \hat{A}_{p} A_{p+1}^{[r]}\cdots A_{k};z,\tau\Big) \omega_{p,p+1}^{(n_{p}-r)} \Big],$

with $A_p^{[r]} \equiv \binom{n_p + r}{z_p}$. The hat means that the corresponding argument \hat{A}_p is removed, and we use the conventions $(z_0, z_{k+1}) = (z, 0), (n_0, n_{k+1}) = (0, 0)$. The $\omega_{ij}^{(n)}$ are differential one-forms given by

$$\omega_{ij}^{(n)} = (dz_j - dz_i)g^{(n)}(z_j - z_i, \tau) + \frac{nd\tau}{2\pi i}g^{(n+1)}(z_j - z_i, \tau), \quad \text{with} \ n \ge 0,$$

$$\omega_{ij}^{(-1)} = -\frac{d\tau}{2\pi i}.$$
(3.16)

Since we can equivalently represent an elliptic curve as the zero set of some polynomial equation in \mathbb{CP}^2 , see eq. (3.1), there is an alternative definition of eMPLs which uses

directly the coordinates (x, y) instead of the coordinate z on the torus. This representation is important in the context of our current discussion because, in applications to Feynman integral calculations, elliptic curves often arise via explicit polynomial equations. The change of variables from z to x is given by eq. (3.10). Inserting it into the definition of eMPLs in eq. (3.12) we arrive at the following class of iterated integrals [58, 59]

$$\mathcal{E}_{3}\left(\begin{smallmatrix}n_{1}\cdots n_{k}\\c_{1}\cdots c_{k}\end{smallmatrix};x,\vec{a}\right) = \int_{0}^{x} dt \,\psi_{n_{1}}(c_{1},t,\vec{a}) \,\mathcal{E}_{3}\left(\begin{smallmatrix}n_{2}\cdots n_{k}\\c_{2}\cdots c_{k}\end{smallmatrix};t,\vec{a}\right) \,, \qquad \mathcal{E}_{3}(;x,\vec{a}) = 1 \,, \qquad (3.17)$$

where the integration kernels are related to the kernels in eq. (3.12) via

$$dx\,\psi_{\pm n}(c,x,\vec{a}) = dz_x\left(g^{(n)}(z_x - z_c,\tau) \pm g^{(n)}(z_x + z_c,\tau) - 2\delta_{\pm n,1}g^{(1)}(z_x,\tau)\right).$$
(3.18)

Here, z_x is the image of [x, y, 1] on the torus, see eq. (3.11). The length and the weight of the eMPL in eq. (3.17) are respectively defined as k and $\sum_{i=1}^{k} |n_i|$. Restricting ourselves to the kernels that will be relevant in this paper, we have

$$\psi_0(0,x,\vec{a}) = \frac{c_3}{y\,\omega_1}\,,\quad \psi_1(c,x,\vec{a}) = \frac{1}{x-c}\,,\quad \psi_{-1}(c,x,\vec{a}) = \frac{y_c}{y(x-c)} - \frac{c_3}{2\,y}Z_3(c,\vec{a})\,,\quad(3.19)$$

where

$$Z_3(c,\vec{a}) = \int_{a_3}^c \frac{dx}{c_3 y} \left(\frac{s_1(\vec{a})}{3} - x - 8c_3^2 \frac{\eta_1}{\omega_1}\right) = \frac{4g^{(1)}(z_c,\tau)}{\omega_1}.$$
 (3.20)

We note that some of the integrals in eq. (3.17) may diverge and require regularisation. We refer to ref. [59] for a detailed discussion.

Let us make some comments about the iterated integrals defined in this section. First, the functions defined in eqs. (3.12) and (3.17) satisfy the usual properties of iterated integrals. In particular, they form a shuffle algebra, i.e., any product of these functions evaluated at the same value of the upper integration limit can be written as a linear combination of the same class of functions. Second, using eq. (3.19) we can easily translate between the eMPLs defined in eqs. (3.12) and (3.17). Every linear combination of iterated integrals $\tilde{\Gamma}$ can be written as a linear combination of \mathcal{E}_3 functions, and vice-versa. Finally, eMPLs contain MPLs as a subspace. Indeed, the kernel $\psi_1(c, x, \vec{a})$ is precisely the kernel that appears in the definition of MPLs (cf. eq. (2.12)) and thus

$$\mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix}1&\cdots&1\\c_1&\cdots&c_k\end{smallmatrix};x,\vec{a}\right) = G(c_1,\ldots,c_k;x).$$
(3.21)

4 Evaluating $f_8^{(2)}$ in terms of eMPLs

In this section we describe the evaluation of $f_8^{(2)}$ in terms of eMPLs directly from its Feynman parameter representation. The basic idea is to perform all integrations in terms of MPLs, except for the last one which can be performed in terms of eMPLs, cf. refs. [63, 64].

The Feynman parameter representation for $f_8^{(2)}$ reads

$$f_8^{(2)} = \int_0^\infty \frac{dx_1 \, dx_2 \, dx_3 \, dx_4}{\mathcal{F}} \, \delta\left(1 - \sum_{i \in \Sigma} x_i\right). \tag{4.1}$$

where Σ can be any non-empty subset of $\{1, 2, 3, 4\}$, and

$$\mathcal{F} = (x_1 + tx_2 + x_3 + x_4)(x_1x_2x_3 + x_1x_2x_4 + x_1x_3x_4 + x_2x_3x_4). \tag{4.2}$$

We recall that we can put $\epsilon = 0$ because the integral is finite in d = 2 dimensions.

We find it convenient to choose $\Sigma = \{2\}$, which amounts to setting $x_2 = 1$ in \mathcal{F} . The integrals over x_1 and x_3 can then be easily performed in terms of MPLs. After changing variables to $\bar{x}_4 = \frac{x_4}{1+x_4}$, we obtain

$$f_8^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{1-t}} \int_0^1 d\bar{x}_4 \frac{1}{y} \left[G_{\pm}(\chi,0;1) - \log\left(\frac{\bar{x}_4(1-t)+t}{1-\bar{x}_4}\right) \log_{\pm}\left(1-\frac{1}{\chi}\right) + G_{\pm}(\chi,1;1) - G_{\pm}\left(\chi,\frac{\bar{x}_4}{\bar{x}_4-1};1\right) - G_{\pm}\left(\chi,\frac{\bar{x}_4(1-t)+t}{\bar{x}_4(2-t)+t-1};1\right) \right],$$
(4.3)

where we used a compact notation which we now explain. First, we define y as

$$y^{2} = (\bar{x}_{4} - a_{1}) (\bar{x}_{4} - a_{2}) (\bar{x}_{4} - a_{3}) , \qquad (4.4)$$

with

$$a_1 = \frac{t}{t-1}, \quad a_2 = \frac{1}{8} \left(t + 3 - \sqrt{(t-1)(t-9)} \right), \quad a_3 = \frac{1}{8} \left(t + 3 + \sqrt{(t-1)(t-9)} \right).$$
(4.5)

We note that in the region 0 < t < 1 the a_i are real and $a_1 < a_2 < a_3$. Then we define χ_{\pm} as

$$\chi_{\pm} = \frac{2(t-1)\bar{x}_4^2 - 3t\bar{x}_4 + t + \bar{x}_4 \pm 2\sqrt{1-t}y}{2(t-1)(\bar{x}_4 - 1)^2} \,. \tag{4.6}$$

Finally, we use the shorthand

$$f_{\pm}(\chi) \equiv f(\chi_{+}) - f(\chi_{-}).$$
(4.7)

While we were able to integrate over three Feynman parameters without leaving the space of MPLs to reach eq. (4.3), the square-root y appearing in the \bar{x}_4 integration means that the last integral will leave this space and should instead be carried in terms of eMPLs. The elliptic curve is defined by eq. (4.4), and our first step is to recast the integrand of eq. (4.3) in terms of eMPLs. We write the integrand of eq. (4.3) as

$$f_8^{(2)} = \int_0^1 d\bar{x}_4 \, \frac{\Omega(\bar{x}_4; t)}{2\sqrt{1 - ty}} \,, \tag{4.8}$$

with

$$\frac{\partial\Omega(x;t)}{\partial x} = \left[\frac{1}{\sqrt{1-t}(1-x)y} - \frac{\sqrt{1-t}}{y} - \frac{t}{\sqrt{1-t}xy}\right] \times \left[G(0;t) - G(0;x) - G(1;x) + G\left(\frac{t}{t-1};x\right)\right].$$
(4.9)

The MPLs appearing in this expression can be written as eMPLs using eq. (3.21). Furthermore, since the kernels in eq. (4.9) are all of the form of the kernels in eq. (3.19), we

can write $\Omega(x; t)$ in terms of eMPLs. This requires determining the boundary contribution of $\Omega(x; t)$ at x = 0, which is given by

$$\Omega(0;t) = \frac{\pi^2}{3} + \log^2 t \,. \tag{4.10}$$

Starting from this representation, we can then compute the integral over the last Feynman parameter \bar{x}_4 in terms of eMPLs simply using eq. (3.17), and we find

$$f_8^{(2)}(t) = \Psi_1(t) \left\{ \mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a} \right) + \mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{t} \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a} \right) - \mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & \frac{1}{t} \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a} \right) - \mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & \frac{1}{t} \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a} \right) - \mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & \frac{1}{t-1} \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a} \right) - 2\pi i \mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{t-1} \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a} \right) - 2\pi i \mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{t-1} \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a} \right) + \log t \left[\mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{t} \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a} \right) + 4\pi i \mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{t-1} \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a} \right) + \log t \left[\mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a} \right) - \mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a} \right) + 6\pi i \mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a}) \right] + \mathcal{E}_3\left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{smallmatrix}; 1, \vec{a} \right) \left[\frac{\pi^2}{6} + \frac{\log^2 t}{2}\right] \right\},$$

where the overall factor $\Psi_1(t)$ is defined in eq. (2.17).

Equation (4.11) is one of the main results of this paper and expresses the integral $f_8^{(2)}$ in terms of eMPLs. Let us make some comments about this result. First, we observe that $f_8^{(2)}$ is proportional to the homogeneous solution $\Psi_1(t)$, which is a period of the elliptic curve defined by the polynomial equation in eq. (4.4). The period is multiplied by a linear combination of eMPLs of uniform weight two. If we assign weight one to the period $\Psi_1(t)$ [59], then $f_8^{(2)}$ has uniform weight three. This is consistent with the fact that $f_8^{(2)}$ can be interpreted as a banana graph in two dimensions with two distinct masses evaluated at zero external momentum. The banana graph in two dimensions is known analytically in the case of three equal masses, and it indeed evaluates to a function of uniform weight three [65]. Second, we can also express $f_8^{(2)}$ in terms of the eMPLs $\tilde{\Gamma}$. We start by noting that the eMPLs in eq. (4.11) are evaluated at $x \in \{0, 1, \frac{t}{t-1}\}$. Under eq. (3.11) these points are mapped to

$$z_0(t) = \frac{1}{3} + \frac{\tau(t)}{2}, \qquad z_1(t) = \frac{1}{3}, \qquad z_{t/(t-1)}(t) = \frac{\tau(t)}{2}, \qquad (4.12)$$

where τ denotes the ratio of the two periods of the elliptic curve (see eq. (2.17)),

$$\tau(t) = \frac{\Psi_2(t)}{\Psi_1(t)}.$$
(4.13)

Since there is never any ambiguity, we will in the following not explicitly write the dependence of the z_i and τ on t. We can then use this to rewrite the integration kernels (3.19)

in terms of those found in the definition of the $\tilde{\Gamma}$, and we find

$$dx \psi_{0}(0, x, \vec{a}) = dz,$$

$$dx \psi_{-1}(0, x, \vec{a}) = dz \left[g^{(1)} \left(z - \frac{1}{3} - \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \right) - g^{(1)} \left(z + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \right) \right],$$

$$dx \psi_{-1}(1, x, \vec{a}) = dz \left[g^{(1)} \left(z - \frac{1}{3}, \tau \right) - g^{(1)} \left(z + \frac{1}{3}, \tau \right) \right],$$

$$dx \psi_{1}(0, x, \vec{a}) = dz \left[g^{(1)} \left(z - \frac{1}{3} - \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \right) + g^{(1)} \left(z + \frac{1}{3} + \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \right) - 2g^{(1)}(z, \tau) \right],$$

$$dx \psi_{1}(1, x, \vec{a}) = dz \left[g^{(1)} \left(z - \frac{1}{3}, \tau \right) + g^{(1)} \left(z + \frac{1}{3}, \tau \right) - 2g^{(1)}(z, \tau) \right],$$

$$dx \psi_{1} \left(\frac{t}{t-1}, x, \vec{a} \right) = dz \left[g^{(1)} \left(z - \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \right) - g^{(1)} \left(z + \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \right) - 2g^{(1)}(z, \tau) \right].$$
(4.14)

Using this change of variables in eq. (3.17), we can express all the \mathcal{E}_3 functions in eq. (4.11) in terms of $\tilde{\Gamma}$ functions. The procedure is straightforward, but the result is lengthy and not particularly illuminating, so we do not show it here explicitly. We only mention that since all points in eq. (4.12) are rational points of the form $z_i = \frac{r}{6} + \frac{s\tau}{6}$, with r and s integers, the $\tilde{\Gamma}$ functions will have a very special form, namely they will all have arguments that are rational points.

Our next goal is to compute the master integrals $f_9^{(2)}$ and f_{10} . As explained at the end of section 2, this can be done by differentiating or integrating $f_8^{(2)}$ with respect to t. These operations, however, are not straightforward to carry out on the expressions in eq. (4.11), because the eMPLs depend on t in a highly non-trivial way. It would be desirably to have a representation of $f_8^{(2)}$ in terms of iterated integrals with a simple dependence on the kinematic variable. While in general such a form may not be easily obtained, the special rational form of the points in eq. (4.12) allows one to find such a representation in this case. This will be reviewed in the next section.

5 eMPLs and iterated Eisenstein integrals

In this section we review how eMPLs evaluated at rational points can be expressed in terms of another class of iterated integrals, namely the so-called iterated Eisenstein integrals. Eisenstein series are a special case of modular forms. In the first part of this section we review modular forms and Eisenstein series, and in a second part we review the relationship between iterated Eisenstein integrals and eMPLs.

5.1 Modular forms: a brief introduction

In section 3.2 we have seen that every elliptic curve is isomorphic to a torus $\mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}$, for some value $\tau \in \mathbb{H}$. Different values of τ , however, do not necessarily describe different tori. Indeed, we can replace the basis of periods (ω_1, ω_2) by an integer linear combination of them without changing the lattice they generate. More precisely, let $\tau' \in \mathbb{H}$ be obtained from τ via a modular transformation, defined as

$$\tau \to \tau' = \gamma \cdot \tau \equiv \frac{a\tau + b}{c\tau + d}, \qquad \gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{Z}),$$
(5.1)

where

$$\operatorname{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) = \left\{ \left(\begin{smallmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{smallmatrix}\right) \middle| a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Z}, \, ad - bc = 1 \right\}.$$
(5.2)

Then τ and τ' define the same lattice, $\Lambda_{\tau} = \Lambda_{\tau'}$, and so they also define the same elliptic curve. In other words, τ and τ' define the same elliptic curve if and only if they are related by a modular transformation. For this reason, modular transformations play a central role in the study of elliptic curves.

In applications it is often specific subgroups of $SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ that are of interest. Particularly important subgroups are the so-called *congruence subgroups of level* N, defined by

$$\Gamma_{0}(N) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}(2, \mathbb{Z}) \mid c = 0 \mod N \right\},$$

$$\Gamma_{1}(N) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}(2, \mathbb{Z}) \mid c = 0 \text{ and } a = d = 1 \mod N \right\},$$

$$\Gamma(N) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}(2, \mathbb{Z}) \mid b = c = 0 \text{ and } a = d = 1 \mod N \right\},$$
(5.3)

with $\Gamma(N) \subseteq \Gamma_1(N) \subseteq \Gamma_0(N) \subseteq \operatorname{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$. Let Γ be any congruence subgroup of $\operatorname{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$. It is clear that \mathbb{H} maps onto itself under modular transformations for Γ . If we consider the extended upper-half plane $\overline{\mathbb{H}} = \mathbb{H} \cup \mathbb{Q} \cup \{i\infty\}$, then Γ acts separately on \mathbb{H} and on $\mathbb{Q} \cup \{i\infty\}$. The equivalence classes of $\mathbb{Q} \cup \{i\infty\}$ are called the *cusps* of Γ (we recall that τ and τ' are in the same equivalence class if $\tau = \gamma \cdot \tau'$ for some $\gamma \in \Gamma$). The equivalence class that contains $i\infty$ is called the *cusp at infinity*. As an example, for $\gamma \in \Gamma(1) = \operatorname{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ we find that $\gamma \cdot (i\infty) = a/c$ and thus there is a single cusp for $\Gamma(1)$, the cusp at infinity. For any N, the number of cusps of the congruence subgroups of eq. (5.3) is finite.

Our goal is to construct functions that transform nicely under some congruence subgroup Γ . A modular function for Γ is a meromorphic function $f: \overline{\mathbb{H}} \to \mathbb{C}$ that is invariant under Γ . One can show that every modular function has at least one pole. If we want to consider holomorphic functions, i.e., functions without poles, then we need to consider more general transformations. A modular form of weight n for Γ is a function $f: \overline{\mathbb{H}} \to \mathbb{C}$ that is holomorphic on \mathbb{H} and at the cusps of Γ such that

$$f(\gamma \cdot \tau) = (c\tau + d)^n f(\tau), \qquad \gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma.$$
(5.4)

Let N be the smallest integer such that $\Gamma(N) \subseteq \Gamma$. Then translations by N are generated by $T_N = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & N \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ and so modular forms in Γ are N-periodic. In particular, this implies that modular forms of level N admit a Fourier expansion of the form

$$f(\tau) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a_m e^{\frac{2\pi i m \tau}{N}} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a_m q_N^m,$$
(5.5)

where $q = \exp(2\pi i\tau)$ and $q_N = q^{\frac{1}{N}}$, and we used the fact that $f(\tau)$ is holomorphic at $\tau \to i\infty$ to start the summation at m = 0. This Fourier expansion is called the *q*-expansion of the modular form $f(\tau)$.

Let us denote by $\mathcal{M}_n(\Gamma)$ the vector space generated by all modular forms of weight n for Γ . One can show that $\mathcal{M}_n(\Gamma)$ is always finite-dimensional. Moreover, $\mathcal{M}_n(\Gamma)$ admits a direct sum decomposition

$$\mathcal{M}_n(\Gamma) = \mathcal{S}_n(\Gamma) \oplus \mathcal{E}_n(\Gamma) \,. \tag{5.6}$$

Here $S_n(\Gamma)$ denotes the space of *cusp forms* of weight *n*, i.e., the modular forms of weight *n* that vanish at all cusps of Γ . Its complement $\mathcal{E}_n(\Gamma)$ is the space of Eisenstein series. The Eisenstein series are of particular interest when working with eMPLs, and so we discuss them in detail in the remainder of this section.

Of special importance here will be the functions [66] $(0 \le r, s < N)$,

$$\mathbf{a}_{N,r,s}^{(n)}(\tau) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{(a,b) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \\ (a,b) \neq (0,0)}} \frac{e^{-2\pi i a r/N} \cos \frac{2\pi s b}{N}}{(a\tau+b)^n},$$

$$\mathbf{b}_{N,r,s}^{(n)}(\tau) = \frac{1}{2i} \sum_{\substack{(a,b) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \\ (a,b) \neq (0,0)}} \frac{e^{-2\pi i a r/N} \sin \frac{2\pi s b}{N}}{(a\tau+b)^n}.$$
(5.7)

One can show that these functions are always Eisenstein series of weight n for $\Gamma(N)$ [60, 66]. Moreover, they form a spanning set of $\mathcal{E}_n(\Gamma(N))$, i.e., every element of $\mathcal{E}_n(\Gamma(N))$ can be written as a linear combination of the functions in eq. (5.7). Note that they do not form a basis. The relations between them are however understood [60, 66]. We also mention that these functions are real whenever τ is purely imaginary [66]. Finally, the Eisenstein series in eq. (5.7) are closely related to the coefficients $g^{(n)}(z,\tau)$ in eq. (3.13). More precisely, we have the relation $(0 \leq r, s < N)$ [60, 66]

$$g^{(n)}\left(\frac{r}{N} + \frac{s}{N}\tau, \tau\right) = -\sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{(-2\pi i s)^k}{k! N^k} \left[\mathbf{a}_{N,r,s}^{(n-k)}(\tau) + i \,\mathbf{b}_{N,r,s}^{(n-k)}(\tau)\right].$$
 (5.8)

The previous equation shows that there is a connection between Eisenstein series for $\Gamma(N)$ and eMPLs evaluated at rational points of the form $z = \frac{r}{N} + \frac{s}{N}\tau$. We know from eq. (4.12) that the arguments of the eMPLs that appear in $f_8^{(2)}$ have this form, with N = 6. Hence we expect the integral $f_8^{(2)}$ to be closely connected to Eisenstein series. We review this connection in the next section.

5.2 Iterated Eisenstein integrals

Consider a set of modular forms $f_j(\tau)$ of weight n_j for some congruence subgroup of level N. We define their iterated integral as [67, 68]

$$I(f_1, \dots, f_k; \tau) = \int_{i\infty}^{\tau} \frac{d\tau'}{2\pi i} f_1(\tau') I(f_2, \dots, f_k; \tau'), \qquad (5.9)$$

with $I(;\tau) \equiv 1$. A precise definition of these integrals requires a careful regularisation of divergences that can appear at the cusp at infinity $\tau' = i\infty$, and we refer to ref. [68] for a detailed discussion. We define the length of $I(f_1, \ldots, f_k; \tau)$ to be k and the weight is $-k + \sum_{j=1}^k n_j$. In the case where all the modular forms $f_j(\tau)$ are Eisenstein series, we refer to the integral in eq. (5.9) as an *iterated Eisenstein integral*.

In ref. [60] it was shown that whenever an eMPL of weight n is evaluated at rational points of the form $z = \frac{r}{N} + \frac{s}{N}\tau$, then this eMPL can be expressed as a linear combination of uniform weight n of iterated Eisenstein integrals of level N. More precisely, we see from

eq. (3.15) that the total differential of a length-k eMPL is given by eMPLs of length k-1 and one-forms $\omega_{ij}^{(n)}$. If all the arguments of the eMPL are rational, then we can write $\omega_{ij}^{(n)}$ in terms of Eisenstein series using eq. (5.8). Hence, if we assume recursively that the claim is true for eMPLs up to length k-1, we see that the total differential of an eMPL of length k evaluated at rational points only involves iterated Eisenstein integrals and Eisenstein series. We can then integrate back in τ to obtain the desired representation at length k.

This recursive consideration also provides an efficient algorithm to express eMPLs evaluated at rational points in terms of iterated Eisenstein integrals. The starting point is to write an eMPL evaluated at rational points as the integral of its derivative with respect to τ ,

$$\tilde{\Gamma}(A_1 \cdots A_k; z, \tau) = \operatorname{Cusp}\left(\tilde{\Gamma}(A_1 \cdots A_k; z, \tau)\right) + \int_{i\infty}^{\tau} d\tilde{\Gamma}(A_1 \cdots A_k; z, \tau) .$$
(5.10)

Since the differential lowers the length by one, we can recursively express the integrand in terms of iterated Eisenstein integrals and integrate back using eq. (5.9). The integration constant is obtained by studying the behaviour at the cusp at infinity. For the cases of interest here, it is possible to compute $\operatorname{Cusp}\left(\tilde{\Gamma}(A_1 \cdots A_k; z, \tau)\right)$ by performing a series expansion of the integrands in $\tilde{\Gamma}(A_1 \cdots A_k; z, \tau)$, and integrating only the leading terms (see the example below). This algorithm is iterative in the length of the eMPLs, and the starting point is the total differential of an eMPL of length one,

$$d\tilde{\Gamma}\binom{n_1}{z_1}; z, \tau = \sum_{r=0}^{n_1+1} \binom{r-1}{-1} \left[\omega_{1,0}^{(n_1-r)} - \omega_{1,2}^{(n_1-r)} \right]$$
(5.11)

where the differential one-forms $\omega_{ij}^{(n_1-r)}$ can be expressed in terms of Eisenstein series via eq. (5.8) whenever z_1 and z are rational points.

To make the discussion more concrete, we illustrate this procedure on the example of one of the eMPLs that appears in the analytic result for $f_8^{(2)}$, namely $\tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ 0 & \frac{2}{3} \\ \vdots \\ \tau \\ \tau \\ \tau \end{pmatrix}$. We start by computing its total differential using eq. (3.15). We get:

$$d\tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}0 & 1\\ 0 & \frac{2}{3}; \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{r=0}^{1} \left[\binom{r-1}{-1} \tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}\frac{1}{2}; \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \end{pmatrix} \omega_{1,0}^{(-r)} - \binom{r}{0} \tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}1+r\\ \frac{2}{3}; \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \end{pmatrix} \omega_{1,2}^{(-r)} \right]$$
(5.12)
+
$$\sum_{r=0}^{2} \left[\binom{r-1}{-1} \tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}r\\ 0; \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \end{pmatrix} \omega_{2,1}^{(1-r)} - \binom{r-1}{-1} \tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}0\\ 0; \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \end{pmatrix} \omega_{2,3}^{(1-r)} \right] - \tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}0\\ 0; \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \end{pmatrix} \omega_{1,2}^{(1)}$$

=
$$\tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}0\\ 0; \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \end{pmatrix} \left[\omega_{2,1}^{(1)} - \omega_{2,3}^{(1)} - \omega_{1,2}^{(1)} \right] + \tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}\frac{1}{2}; \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \end{pmatrix} \left[\omega_{1,0}^{(0)} - \omega_{1,2}^{(0)} \right] - \tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}\frac{2}{2}; \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau \end{pmatrix} \omega_{1,2}^{(-1)}.$$

Iterating this procedure, we find that the total differentials of the eMPLs in the right-hand side of eq. (5.12) read:

$$d\tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}0\\0;\frac{\tau}{2},\tau\end{pmatrix} = \omega_{1,0}^{(0)} - \omega_{1,2}^{(0)}, \quad d\tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}\frac{1}{2};\frac{\tau}{2},\tau\end{pmatrix} = \omega_{1,0}^{(1)} - \omega_{1,2}^{(1)}, d\tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}\frac{2}{2};\frac{\tau}{2},\tau\end{pmatrix} = \omega_{1,0}^{(2)} - \omega_{1,2}^{(2)}.$$
(5.13)

The next step is to rewrite the one-forms $\omega_{ij}^{(n)}$ that appear in eqs. (5.12) and (5.13) in terms of the $\mathbf{a}_{N_j,r_j,s_j}^{(n_j)}(\tau)$ and $\mathbf{b}_{N_j,r_j,s_j}^{(n_j)}(\tau)$. Starting from eq. (3.16) and using eq. (5.8), we find

$$\begin{aligned}
\omega_{2,1}^{(1)} &= -\frac{d\tau}{2\pi i} \, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)}(\tau) , \\
\omega_{1,0}^{(1)} &= -\frac{d\tau}{2\pi i} \left[-\frac{\pi^2}{2} - \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)}(\tau) - \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)}(\tau) \right] , \\
\omega_{1,0}^{(2)} &= -\frac{d\tau}{2\pi i} \left[\frac{i\pi^3 d\tau}{2} + i\pi \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)}(\tau) + i\pi \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)}(\tau) + 2 \, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}(\tau) \right] , \\
\omega_{1,2}^{(2)} &= -\frac{2d\tau}{3\pi i} \left[\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}(\tau) + \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}(\tau) - \mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}(\tau) \right] .
\end{aligned}$$
(5.14)

Inserting eq. (5.14) into eq. (5.13) and integrating back in τ , we find

$$\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\begin{smallmatrix}0\\0;\frac{\tau}{2},\tau\right) = i\pi I(1;\tau),$$

$$\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\begin{smallmatrix}1\\\frac{2}{3};\frac{\tau}{2},\tau\right) = \frac{\pi^{2}}{2}I(1;\tau) + I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) + I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)};\tau\right) + I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) - G\left(e^{-\frac{2i\pi}{3}};1\right),$$

$$\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\begin{smallmatrix}2\\\frac{2}{3};\frac{\tau}{2},\tau\right) = -\frac{i\pi^{3}}{6}I(1;\tau) - i\pi I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) - i\pi I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)};\tau\right) + \frac{4}{3}I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)};\tau\right) \\
+ \frac{4}{3}I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)};\tau\right) - \frac{10}{3}I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)};\tau\right),$$
(5.15)

where we used boundary conditions:

$$\operatorname{Cusp}\left(\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\begin{smallmatrix}0\\0\\;\frac{\tau}{2},\tau\right)\right) = \operatorname{Cusp}\left(\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\begin{smallmatrix}2\\\frac{2}{3}\\;\frac{\tau}{2},\tau\right)\right) = 0,$$

$$\operatorname{Cusp}\left(\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\begin{smallmatrix}1\\\frac{2}{3}\\;\frac{\tau}{2},\tau\right)\right) = -G\left(e^{-\frac{2i\pi}{3}};1\right).$$
(5.16)

As previously said, the cusp values can be computed from the series expansion of the integration kernels of the eMPLs. Let us consider $\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\frac{1}{2}; \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau\right)$. The series expansion of $g^{(1)}\left(z-\frac{2}{3}, \tau\right)$ is given by:

$$g^{(1)}\left(z-\frac{2}{3},\tau\right) = \frac{i\pi}{e^{2\pi i(z+\frac{1}{3})}-1} + i\pi \frac{e^{2\pi i(z+\frac{1}{3})}}{e^{2\pi i(z+\frac{1}{3})}-1} + \mathcal{O}(q_2).$$
(5.17)

Then, performing the change of variable

$$w = e^{2\pi i z},\tag{5.18}$$

and integrating eq. (5.17) with respect to w we obtain:

$$\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\frac{1}{\frac{2}{3}};\frac{\tau}{2},\tau\right) = G\left(e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{3}};e^{i\pi\tau}\right) - \frac{1}{2}G\left(0;e^{i\pi\tau}\right) - G\left(e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{3}};1\right) + \mathcal{O}(q_2)$$

= $-\frac{1}{2}\log q_2 - G\left(e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{3}};1\right) + \mathcal{O}(q_2).$ (5.19)

The value of $\operatorname{Cusp}\left(\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\frac{1}{2}; \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau\right)\right)$ is defined as the constant term in the above equation (i.e., the term independent of q_2), which gives the result in eq. (5.16).

Substituting (5.16) into eq. (5.13) and using the fact that

$$\operatorname{Cusp}\left(\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\begin{smallmatrix}0 & 1\\ 0 & \frac{2}{3} \\ ; \frac{\tau}{2}, \tau\right)\right) = \frac{i}{2\pi} G\left(0, e^{-\frac{2i\pi}{3}}; 1\right), \tag{5.20}$$

we finally find that

$$\tilde{\Gamma}\begin{pmatrix}0&1\\0&\frac{2}{3};\frac{\tau}{2},\tau\end{pmatrix} = \frac{i}{2\pi}G\left(0,e^{-\frac{2i\pi}{3}};1\right) - \pi i G\left(e^{-\frac{2i\pi}{3}};1\right)I(1;\tau) + \frac{i\pi^{3}}{3}I(1,1;\tau)
+ i\pi I\left(1,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) + \frac{4}{3}I\left(1,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)};\tau\right) + \frac{4}{3}I\left(1,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)};\tau\right)
- \frac{10}{3}I\left(1,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)};\tau\right) + i\pi I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)},1;\tau\right).$$
(5.21)

Following exactly the same steps as in this example, we can express all the eMPLs that appear in $f_8^{(2)}$ in terms of iterated Eisenstein integrals. The result will be presented in the next section.

We finish this section by noting that the procedure that we just presented to relate eMPLs and iterated Eisenstein integrals can be reformulated in terms of the coaction on eMPLs [60, 69]. Indeed, the algorithm we presented is summarised by the relation

$$\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\vec{A};z,\tau\right) = m\left[\left(\operatorname{Cusp}\otimes\int_{i\infty}^{\tau}d\tau'\right)\Delta\left(\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\vec{A};z,\tau'\right)\right)\right],\tag{5.22}$$

where $\Delta\left(\tilde{\Gamma}\left(\vec{A};z,\tau\right)\right)$ is the coaction on the eMPLs and we defined $m[a\otimes b] \equiv ab$.

6 The master integrals for topology A in the region 0 < t < 1

In this section we present our final result for the master integrals $f_8^{(2)}$, $f_9^{(2)}$ and f_{10} in terms of iterated Eisenstein integrals. We focus in this section on the region 0 < t < 1, and we explore the analytic continuation to other regions in the next section.

We start by discussing $f_8^{(2)}$. We can follow the steps outlined in the previous section and express all the eMPLs that appear in the analytic expression for $f_8^{(2)}$ in eq. (4.11) in terms of iterated Eisenstein integrals. We find

$$f_8^{(2)}(t) = \Psi_1(t) f_{8,U}^{(2)}(\tau(t)), \qquad (6.1)$$

with

$$\begin{aligned} f_{8,U}^{(2)}(\tau) &= 16 I \left(1, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)}; \tau \right) + 16 I \left(1, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)}; \tau \right) + 16 I \left(1, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)}; \tau \right) \\ &+ 16 I \left(1, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)}; \tau \right) + 16 I \left(1, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)}; \tau \right) + 16 I \left(1, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)}; \tau \right) \\ &- 40 I \left(1, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)}; \tau \right) - 40 I \left(1, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)}; \tau \right) - 40 I \left(1, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)}; \tau \right) \\ &+ 4 \log 3 \left(5 I \left(1, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}; \tau \right) - 2 I \left(1, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}; \tau \right) - 2 I \left(1, \, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}; \tau \right) \right) \\ &- i \operatorname{Cl}_2 \left(\frac{\pi}{3} \right) \tau + \frac{6}{\pi} \operatorname{Im} G \left(0, 1, 1, e^{\frac{2i\pi}{3}} \right) + \frac{2\pi^2}{27} \,, \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.2)$$

where $Cl_2(x)$ denotes the Clausen function,

$$Cl_2(x) = \frac{i}{2} \left[Li_2(e^{-ix}) - Li_2(e^{ix}) \right].$$
 (6.3)

The variable $\tau(t)$ is defined in eq. (4.13) and is we recalled here for convenience,

$$\tau(t) = \frac{\Psi_2(t)}{\Psi_1(t)}.$$
(6.4)

Equation (6.4) can be inverted, and we find [17, 70, 71]

$$t(\tau) = 9 \frac{\eta(\frac{\tau}{2})^4 \eta(3\tau)^8}{\eta(\tau)^8 \eta(\frac{3\tau}{2})^4},\tag{6.5}$$

where $\eta(\tau)$ is the Dedekind η -function

$$\eta(\tau) = q^{\frac{1}{24}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^n), \qquad q = \exp(2\pi i\tau).$$
(6.6)

Next, let us discuss $f_9^{(2)}$. Using its differential equation, we obtain

$$f_9^{(2)}(t) = -\partial_t f_8^{(2)}(t) = -\Phi_1(t) f_{8,U}^{(2)}(\tau(t)) - \Psi_1(t) \mathcal{J}(t) \partial_\tau f_{8,U}^{(2)}(\tau(t)), \qquad (6.7)$$

where $\Phi_1(t) = \partial_t \Psi_1(t)$ was defined in eq. (2.20) and $\mathcal{J}(t)$ denotes the Jacobian of the change of variables from t to τ ,

$$\mathcal{J}(t) = \partial_t \tau(t) = -\frac{48i\pi}{(t-9)(t-1)t\Psi_1^2(t)} \,. \tag{6.8}$$

The derivative of $f_{8,U}^{(2)}$ with respect to τ can easily be carried out, as the iterated integrals in eq. (6.2) only depend on τ through the upper integration limit. We find

$$\begin{aligned} f_{9,U}^{(2)}(\tau) &= 2\pi i \,\partial_{\tau} f_{8,U}^{(2)}(\tau) \\ &= 16 \,I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, \,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)}; \tau \right) + 16 \,I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, \,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)}; \tau \right) + 16 \,I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, \,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)}; \tau \right) \\ &+ 16 \,I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, \,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)}; \tau \right) + 16 \,I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, \,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)}; \tau \right) + 16 \,I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, \,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)}; \tau \right) \\ &- 40 \,I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, \,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)}; \tau \right) - 40 \,I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, \,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)}; \tau \right) - 40 \,I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, \,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)}; \tau \right) \\ &+ 4 \log 3 \left[5 \,I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}; \tau \right) - 2 \,I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}; \tau \right) - 2 \,I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}; \tau \right) \right] + 2\pi \,\mathrm{Cl}_2 \left(\frac{\pi}{3} \right). \end{aligned} \tag{6.9}$$

Finally, we discuss the calculation of f_{10} . Aside from classical polylogarithms, the differential equation for f_{10} in eq. (2.22) contains $f_8^{(2)}$ as an inhomogeneous term. In order to solve the differential equation we follow the strategy of ref. [65]. We start by noting that we have expressed $f_8^{(2)}$ in eq. (6.1) in terms of iterated Eisenstein integrals for the congruence subgroup $\Gamma(6)$, for which a spanning set is given by the functions in eq. (5.7). It turns out that there is a smaller set of modular forms that is sufficient to express the

result for $f_8^{(2)}$, namely Eisenstein series for $\Gamma_1(6)$. In ref. [72] it was shown that a basis for $\mathcal{M}_n(\Gamma_1(6))$ is

$$f_{n,p}(\tau) = t(\tau)^p \Psi_1(t(\tau))^n, \quad 0 \le p \le n, \quad f_{0,0}(\tau) = 1.$$
 (6.10)

It is possible to write all polylogarithms that appear in eq. (2.22) in terms of iterated Eisenstein integrals for $\Gamma_1(6)$. Here we only sketch the argument, and we refer to refs. [65, 71, 72] for details. If we express the iterated integrals in eq. (6.2) in terms of the kernels in eq. (6.10), and we change variables from τ to t using eq. (6.4), we can write eq. (6.2) in terms of iterated integrals in t, with integration kernels of the form

$$\frac{dt}{t-t_0}\Psi_1(t)^{n-2}, \qquad t_0 \in \{0,1,9\}.$$
(6.11)

This class of iterated integrals contains at the same time MPLs (for n = 2) and iterated Eisenstein integrals for $\Gamma_1(6)$ (through eq. (6.10)). In other words, all contributions in eq. (2.22) can be expressed in terms of a unique class of iterated integrals, the iterated Eisenstein integrals for $\Gamma_1(6)$, and thus also in terms of Eisenstein series for $\Gamma(6)$. Let us consider as an example G(0; t). Using eq. (6.8) it is possible to verify that the following identity holds

$$\int_{0}^{t} \frac{dt}{t} = c + \frac{i}{48\pi} \left[\int_{i\infty}^{\tau} t^{2}(\tau) \Psi_{1}(t(\tau))^{2} d\tau - 10 \int_{i\infty}^{\tau} t(\tau) \Psi_{1}(t(\tau))^{2} d\tau + 9 \int_{i\infty}^{\tau} \Psi_{1}(t(\tau))^{2} d\tau \right],$$
(6.12)

where c is a boundary term associated with the regularisation of G(0;t). From the q-expansion of the iterated integrals on the right-hand side of the above equation [65], it is possible to write it in terms of iterated Eisenstein integrals:

$$G(0;t) = \log 9 - 4I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) - 4I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)};\tau\right) - 4I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right),\tag{6.13}$$

with $c = \log 9$.

After this step, the inhomogeneous term of eq. (2.22) only involves Eisenstein series and iterated Eisenstein integrals, and the differential equation for f_{10} can easily be solved. We find

$$\begin{split} f_{10}(t) &= 384\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) + 384\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &+ 384\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) + 384\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &+ 384\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)};\tau\right) + 384\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &- 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) - 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &- 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) + 384\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &+ 384\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) + 384\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &+ 384\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) + 384\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &+ 384\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) - 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &- 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) - 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &- 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) - 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &- 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)};\tau\right) - 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &- 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)};\tau\right) - 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &- 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)};\tau\right) - 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)},\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)};\tau\right) \\ &- 960\,I\left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)},\,1,\,\mathbf{a}_{6,2,$$

$$+ 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)}; \tau\right) + 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)}; \tau\right) \\ + 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)}; \tau\right) + 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)}; \tau\right) \\ + 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)}; \tau\right) + 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)}; \tau\right) \\ - 480 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(2)}; \tau\right) - 480 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(2)}; \tau\right) \\ - 480 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,0}^{(2)}; \tau\right) + \log 3 \left[480 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right) \right] \\ - 480 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right) - 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}; \tau\right) \\ - 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}; \tau\right) - 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right) \\ - 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right) - 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right) \\ - 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right) - 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right) \\ - 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right) - 192 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right) \\ + 480 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right) + 240 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}, 1, \mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right) \right] \\ + \left[\frac{72}{\pi} \operatorname{Im} G\left(0, 1, 1, e^{\frac{21\pi}{3}}\right) + \frac{8\pi^2}{9}\right] \left[2 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}; \tau\right) + 2 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right) + I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,2,3}^{(3)}; \tau\right)\right] \\ + 24\pi \operatorname{Cl}_2 \left(\frac{\pi}{3}\right) \left[2 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,0}^{(3)}, 1; \tau\right) + 2 I \left(\mathbf{a}_{6,1,3}^{(3)}, 1; \tau\right) \right] \\ + 2G \left(0, 1, 1, 0; t\right) - G \left(1, 0, 1, 0; t\right) + \frac{\pi^2}{6} G \left(1, 0; t\right) - \frac{\pi^2}{3} G \left(0, 1; t\right) - \frac{22\zeta_3}{3} G (1; t) \\ - 6 \operatorname{Cl}_2 \left(\frac{\pi}{3}\right)^2 - \frac{\pi^4}{24}.$$

Equations (6.2), (6.9) and (6.14) are among the main results of this paper. They express all elliptic master integrals of Topology A in terms of a class of special functions that is well studied in both the mathematics and physics literature, namely eMPLs and iterated Eisenstein integrals for the congruence subgroup $\Gamma(6)$. The discussion from the previous paragraph shows that we can even restrict the analysis to the larger congruence subgroup $\Gamma_1(6)$, at least through finite terms in the Laurent expansion in ϵ . This shows that all master integrals for Topology A can be expressed in terms of exactly the same class of functions as the well-known sunrise, kite and banana integrals with three or four equal masses. This extends the observation of section 2 that $f_8^{(2)}$ and $f_9^{(2)}$ satisfy the same homogeneous differential equation as the sunrise graph. In particular, we find that there is no need to introduce new classes of transcendental functions beyond those already encountered for the sunrise and kite graphs. This is at variance with the analytic results for Topology A of refs. [45, 46], where new classes of functions were introduced.

Since the integrals considered here and the sunrise graph seem to be so closely related, let us comment on the elliptic curves that appear in the computation of the two integrals. As already mentioned in section 2, the second order differential operator in eq. (2.16) that describes the homogeneous solution is identical for the two sets of integrals. The solutions of eq. (2.16) are the two periods $\Psi_1(t)$ and $\Psi_2(t)$ of the family of elliptic curves parametrised by t. While in the case of the integrals considered here this curve is most naturally defined by a cubic polynomial (cf. eq. (4.4)), the curve obtained from the Feynman parameter integral for the sunrise is defined by a quartic polynomial, cf. e.g. refs. [16, 17, 26]. There is no contradiction: the same elliptic curve may be represented as the zero set of different polynomial equations. An invariant that uniquely distinguishes different elliptic curves is its *j*-invariant. The *j*-invariant of the family of elliptic curves in eq. (4.4) is

$$j(t) = \frac{(t-3)^3 (t((t-9)t+3)-3)^3}{1728(t-9)(t-1)^3 t^2}.$$
(6.15)

It is easy to check that eq. (6.15) agrees with the *j*-invariant for the family of elliptic curves obtained from the Feynman parametrisation of the equal-mass sunrise graph, with $t = \frac{p^2}{m^2}$ [17]. This shows that indeed the elliptic curves obtained from the Feynman parameter integrals of the sunrise integrals and the integrals considered here are identical.

Finally, let us make a comment about the analytic structure of our results. We see that we can cast our results in the form,

$$\begin{pmatrix} f_8^{(2)}(t) \\ f_9^{(2)}(t) \\ f_{10}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{S}(t) \begin{pmatrix} f_{8,U}^{(2)}(t) \\ f_{9,U}^{(2)}(t) \\ f_{9,U}(t) \end{pmatrix},$$
(6.16)

where $f_{8,U}^{(2)}(t)$, $f_{9,U}^{(2)}(t)$ and $f_{10,U}(t) = f_{10}(t)$ are defined in eqs. (6.2), (6.9) and (6.14). The matrix S is given by

$$\mathcal{S}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \Psi_1(t) & 0 & 0\\ -\Phi_1(t) & \frac{24}{(t-9)(t-1)t\Psi_1(t)} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.17)

This form matches precisely the structure of elliptic Feynman integrals conjectured in ref. [59]. In particular, we see that the functions $f_{8,U}^{(2)}(t)$, $f_{9,U}^{(2)}(t)$ and $f_{10,U}(t)$ are pure functions in the sense of ref. [59], and they have uniform transcendental weight two, three and four respectively.

7 Analytic continuation and numerical evaluation

7.1 Analytic continuation

As mentioned in section 2, for the calculation of the ρ parameter we do not only need the integrals from Topology A (see figure 1), but also those from Topology B, obtained by exchanging m_1 and m_2 . These integrals can equivalently be obtained by analytically continuing Topology A to the region t > 1. The analytic continuation of the non-elliptic integrals can be done using standard techniques. In this section we discuss the analytic continuation of the elliptic integrals $f_8^{(2)}$, $f_9^{(2)}$ and f_{10} .

The analytic continuation will be done following the steps described in ref. [66]. We start by discussing the analytic continuation of the homogeneous solutions in eq. (2.17). Given the singularities in the differential equation in eq. (2.16), there are four kinematic regions to consider: t < 0, 0 < t < 1, 1 < t < 0, t > 9. The homogeneous solution in eq. (2.17) is well behaved in the second region, by which we mean that they are local solutions to the differential equation that are respectively real and imaginary for $t \in [0, 1]$. The first step in the analytic continuation procedure is to obtain similarly well behaved

solutions in the other three regions. Since the differential equation in eq. (2.16) is the same as that of the sunrise integral, we can simply reuse the results of refs. [24, 57]:

• Region 1, 0 < t < 1:

$$\tilde{\Psi}_{1}^{(0,1)}(t) = \frac{8 \operatorname{K}(\lambda(t))}{\sqrt{(3-\sqrt{t})(1+\sqrt{t})^{3}}}, \quad \tilde{\Psi}_{2}^{(0,1)}(t) = \frac{16i \operatorname{K}(1-\lambda(t))}{\sqrt{(3-\sqrt{t})(1+\sqrt{t})^{3}}}; \quad (7.1)$$

• Region 2, 1 < t < 9:

$$\tilde{\Psi}_{1}^{(1,9)}(t) = \frac{2}{t^{\frac{1}{4}}} \operatorname{K}\left(\frac{1}{\lambda(t)}\right), \quad \tilde{\Psi}_{2}^{(1,9)}(t) = \frac{4i}{t^{\frac{1}{4}}} \operatorname{K}\left(1 - \frac{1}{\lambda(t)}\right); \quad (7.2)$$

• Region 3, t > 9:

$$\tilde{\Psi}_{1}^{(9,\infty)}(t) = \frac{8 \operatorname{K} (\lambda_{9}(t))}{\sqrt{(3+\sqrt{t})(\sqrt{t}-1)^{3}}}, \quad \tilde{\Psi}_{2}^{(9,\infty)}(t) = \frac{16i \operatorname{K} (1-\lambda_{9}(t))}{\sqrt{(3+\sqrt{t})(\sqrt{t}-1)^{3}}}; \quad (7.3)$$

• Region 4, t < 0:

$$\tilde{\Psi}_{1}^{(-\infty,0)}(t) = \frac{8 \operatorname{K} (\lambda_{0}(t))}{((t-9)(t-1)^{3})^{\frac{1}{4}}}, \quad \tilde{\Psi}_{2}^{(-\infty,0)}(t) = \frac{4i \operatorname{K} (1-\lambda_{0}(t))}{((t-9)(t-1)^{3})^{\frac{1}{4}}}; \quad (7.4)$$

where $\lambda(t)$ was defined in eq. (2.18) while $\lambda_9(t)$ and $\lambda_0(t)$ are given by:

$$\lambda_{9}(t) = \frac{(\sqrt{t} - 3)(\sqrt{t} + 1)^{3}}{(3 + \sqrt{t})(\sqrt{t} - 1)^{3}},$$

$$\lambda_{0}(t) = \frac{(t - 9)\left(3 - \sqrt{(t - 9)(t - 1)} + t(6 - t + \sqrt{(t - 9)(t - 1)})\right)}{2\left((t - 9)(t - 1)\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}}.$$
(7.5)

The functions $\tilde{\Psi}_{j}^{(a,b)}$ are local solutions to the differential equation in eq. (2.16), but they do not extend individually to global solutions that define analytic functions with at most logarithmic singularities at the regular singular points of eq. (2.16). We can, however, construct a set of solutions with the desired analytic properties by patching together the local solutions in the right way. This leads to the correct analytic continuation of the functions in eq. (2.17) to all values of t, given by the piecewise definition

$$(\Psi_{1}(t), \Psi_{2}(t)) = \begin{cases} \left(\tilde{\Psi}_{1}^{(0,1)}(t), \tilde{\Psi}_{2}^{(0,1)}(t)\right) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} & \text{for } 0 \le t < 1, \\ \left(\tilde{\Psi}_{1}^{(1,9)}(t), \tilde{\Psi}_{2}^{(1,9)}(t)\right) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \frac{3}{2} & 1 \end{pmatrix} & \text{for } 1 \le t < 9, \\ \left(\tilde{\Psi}_{1}^{(9,\infty)}(t), \tilde{\Psi}_{2}^{(9,\infty)}(t)\right) \begin{pmatrix} -2 & -2 \\ \frac{3}{2} & 1 \end{pmatrix} & \text{for } 9 \le t < \infty, \\ \left(\tilde{\Psi}_{1}^{(-\infty,0)}(t), \tilde{\Psi}_{2}^{(-\infty,0)}(t)\right) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix} & \text{for } -\infty < t < 0. \end{cases}$$
(7.6)

Having obtained the correct analytic continuation of the homogeneous solutions to all values of t, we can also extend the definition of $\tau(t)$ in eq. (4.13) to arbitrary t, by replacing $\Psi_j(t)$ in eq. (4.13) by their piecewise definition in eq. (7.6). For the convenience of the reader, we reproduce here the definition of $\tau(t)$ as a function of the homogeneous solutions:

$$\tau(t) = \frac{\Psi_2(t)}{\Psi_1(t)} \,. \tag{7.7}$$

With these definitions we can immediately evaluate the integrals $f_8^{(2)}$, $f_9^{(2)}$ and f_{10} for all real values of t, for both Topology A and B. Indeed, we can insert the global definitions of Ψ_j and τ from eqs. (7.6) and (7.7) into eq. (6.16). Each iterated Eisenstein integral admits a q-expansion (see eq. (5.5)), which is guaranteed to converge because Im $\tau(t) > 0$ for all values of t. Therefore, we can obtain numerical results for all the integrals in eq. (6.16) for arbitrary t. The convergence of the q-expansion, however, might be very slow: it is controlled by the size of the imaginary part of τ which, depending on the value of t, might be very small. In the next section we address this shortcoming.

7.2 Numerical evaluation of iterated integrals of modular forms

In this section we discuss how we can speed up the numerical convergence of the q expansion of the iterated Eisenstein integrals. Indeed, for physical applications it is desirable to have representations for the master integrals that can be evaluated efficiently. This may however not be the case for our results, which are simply obtained by inserting the analytic continuation of the homogenous solutions into eqs. (7.7) and (6.16), without care for the convergence properties of the expression we obtain.

To make our point more concrete, let us consider the case where t takes its SM value $t_{\rm phys}$ (cf. eq. (2.9)). For Topology A, we then find $\tau(t_{\rm phys}) \simeq i 3.07$. This corresponds to a value of $q_6 = \exp(\pi i \tau(t)/3) \simeq 0.04$ in the q-expansion of the iterated Eisenstein integrals (see eq. (5.5)) and so all integrals admit a fast converging q-expansion. For Topology B, however, the integrals are evaluated at $\tau(1/t_{\rm phys}) \simeq 0.94 + i 0.13$, which gives $|q_6| \simeq 0.88$. The iterated Eisenstein integrals computed with $\tau(t_{\rm phys})$ will then converge one order of magnitude faster than those computed with $\tau(1/t_{\rm phys})$.

The convergence of the q-expansion can be substantially accelerated, for instance following the procedure of ref. [66] which we now briefly summarise. In a nutshell, the idea is to find a transformation $\gamma \in SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ that maximises the imaginary part of τ and thus the speed of the convergence of the q-expansion. For example, we can map τ to the so-called fundamental domain of $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, defined as

$$\mathcal{F} = \left\{ \tau \in \mathbb{H} : -\frac{1}{2} \le \operatorname{Re}(\tau) < \frac{1}{2} \text{ and } |\tau| > 1 \right\} \bigcup \left\{ \tau \in \mathbb{H} : \operatorname{Re}(\tau) \le 0 \text{ and } |\tau| = 1 \right\}.$$
(7.8)

All $\tau \in \mathcal{F}$ have $\operatorname{Im}(\tau) \geq \sqrt{3}/2$ and for every value of t, i.e., for every $\tau(t) \in \mathbb{H}$, there is a $\gamma_t \in \operatorname{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ such that $\gamma_t^{-1} \cdot \tau(t) \in \mathcal{F}$.

While we might naively expect that the map to the fundamental domain in each of the four different regions for t in eq. (7.6) is given by a single transformation, or in other

words that the function γ_t is constant on each of the four regions in eq. (7.6), this is in fact not the case. In ref. [66] it was observed that the points where γ_t changes are a subset of the (real) solutions to the equations

$$j(t) = 0, \qquad j(t) = 1, \qquad \text{or} \qquad j(t) = \pm \infty,$$
(7.9)

where j(t) is the *j*-invariant introduced in eq. (6.15). Note that the solutions to $j(t) = \pm \infty$ are the singularities of the differential equation (2.14), which define the different regions for analytic continuation, see eq. (7.6). By inspection, we then find that the points where γ_t changes are

$$t_{1} = 3 - 2\sqrt{3}, \quad t_{2} = 0, \qquad t_{3} = 3 + \sqrt{3} - \sqrt{9 + 6\sqrt{3}}, \quad t_{4} = 1,$$

$$t_{5} = 3, \qquad t_{6} = 3 + 2\sqrt[3]{2} + 2^{5/3}, \quad t_{7} = 3 + \sqrt{3} + \sqrt{9 + 6\sqrt{3}}, \quad t_{8} = \infty.$$
(7.10)

For each of the eight regions bounded by the values of t in eq. (7.10) we can identify a modular transformation γ_t whose inverse maps $\tau(t)$ to the fundamental domain. This can be done algorithmically [66]. Through this procedure we obtain solutions for the master integrals $f_8^{(2)}(t)$, $f_9^{(2)}(t)$ and $f_{10}(t)$ that can be efficiently evaluated for all real values of t. This approach also allows one to obtain fast converging expansions for the master integrals in Topology B starting from the expressions for Topology A, since one is obtained from the other by the replacement $t \to 1/t$.

Before we delve into the details of how we obtain an expression for the masters $f_8^{(2)}(t)$, $f_9^{(2)}(t)$ and $f_{10}(t)$ that is tailored for efficient numerical evaluation, we start with a comment about the notation we will use. We will proceed by analogy with what we did in the previous section for the analytic continuation, where the global solutions have piecewise definitions, constructed from local solutions that are well defined in each region (see e.g. eqs. (7.6) and (7.7)). Here we will denote by an index A the quantities that are associated with Topology A and admit a piecewise definition constructed from local representations, which can be efficiently evaluated in each of the eight regions defined by the points in eq. (7.10). For instance, in analogy with eq. (6.16), we define

$$\vec{f}_{A}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} f_{8}^{(2),A}(t) \\ f_{9}^{(2),A}(t) \\ f_{10}^{A}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{S}_{A}(t) \begin{pmatrix} f_{8,U}^{(2),A}(t) \\ f_{9,U}^{(2),A}(t) \\ f_{9,U}^{A}(t) \end{pmatrix},$$
(7.11)

where all quantities have a piecewise definition, and the pure integrals $f_{8,U}^{(2),A}(t)$, $f_{9,U}^{(2),A}(t)$ and $f_{10,U}^A(t)$ are evaluated at $\tau_A(t)$, which itself admits a piecewise definition. The remainder of this section is devoted to giving explicit representations for these quantities, at least for the regions that are relevant for physical applications.

We first construct $\tau_A(t) \in \mathcal{F}$, defined as the image of the $\tau(t)$ given in eq. (7.7) under the map to the fundamental domain,

$$\tau_A(t) = \gamma_t^{-1} \cdot \tau(t) \,. \tag{7.12}$$

In accordance with the previous discussion, $\tau_A(t)$ admits a piecewise definition: to each of the eight regions bounded by the points t_j in eq. (7.10) corresponds a different matrix γ_t . We write

$$\gamma_t = \gamma^{(j,j+1)} \text{ for } t \in [t_j, t_{j+1}],$$
(7.13)

where the indices are understood to be cyclically defined and

$$\gamma^{(1,2)} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma^{(2,3)} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma^{(3,4)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma^{(4,5)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & -2 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\gamma^{(5,6)} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma^{(6,7)} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 \\ 3 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma^{(7,8)} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 \\ 1 & 3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma^{(8,1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.14)

While we gave an explicit definition for $\tau_A(t)$ for all values of t, doing the same for the different quantities in eq. (7.11) would lead us towards a very lengthy and repetitive discussion. Instead, we give these expressions as ancillary files² and focus our discussion in the remainder of this section on the two regions that are relevant for the calculation of the ρ parameter: $t \in [t_2, t_3]$ and $t \in [t_7, t_8]$.

Note that $\gamma^{(2,3)}$ is the identity matrix. The value of $\tau(t)$ of eq. (7.7) is thus already in the fundamental domain for $t \in [t_2, t_3]$, and the integrals defined in eq. (6.16) are already in a representation with the best possible convergence properties. In particular, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Psi_2^A(t) \\ \Psi_1^A(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Psi_2(t) \\ \Psi_1(t) \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \vec{f}_A(t) = \begin{pmatrix} f_8^{(2)}(t) \\ f_9^{(2)}(t) \\ f_{10}(t) \end{pmatrix} \text{ for } t \in [t_2, t_3], \quad (7.15)$$

with $\Psi_j(t)$ as defined in eq. (7.6), and $f_8^{(2)}(t)$, $f_9^{(2)}(t)$ and $f_{10}(t)$ as in eq. (6.16).

Let us now discuss the region $t \in [t_7, t_8]$. It follows from eq. (7.13) that

$$\tau_A(t) = \frac{3\tau(t) - 2}{1 - \tau(t)} \quad \text{for} \quad t \in [t_7, t_8].$$
(7.16)

Consistently, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Psi_2^A(t) \\ \Psi_1^A(t) \end{pmatrix} = -i \begin{pmatrix} 3 & -2 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \Psi_2(t) \\ \Psi_1(t) \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{for} \quad t \in [t_7, t_8],$$
(7.17)

with the $\Psi_j(t)$ as defined in eq. (7.6). The factor of -i is purely conventional and introduced so that $\Psi_1^A(t)$ is real and $\Psi_2^A(t)$ is imaginary also for $t \in [t_7, t_8]$. We then find $\tau_A(1/t_{\text{phys}}) \simeq$ i 6.59, which corresponds to $q_6 \simeq 0.001$. Hence, if for $t \in [t_7, t_8]$ we express all iterated integrals in eq. (6.16) in terms of iterated Eisenstein integrals evaluated at $\tau_A(t)$, as given in eq. (7.16), then we obtain fast converging q-expansions for the elliptic master integrals. The corresponding transformations can be worked out using the algorithms presented in ref. [66]. We then find that, in this region, the matrix $\mathcal{S}^A(t)$ of eq. (7.11) is given by

$$S_A(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \Psi_1^A(t) & 0 & 0\\ -\Phi_1^A(t) & -\frac{24}{(t-9)(t-1)t\Psi_1^A(t)} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{for} \quad t \in [t_7, t_8] \,. \tag{7.18}$$

²They can be downloaded from arXiv:1912.02747.

For $t \in [t_7, t_8]$, the pure integrals $f_{8,U}^{(2),A}(t)$, $f_{9,U}^{(2),A}(t)$ and $f_{10,U}^A(t)$ are:

$$f_{8,U}^{(2),A}(t) = 40 I \left(1, \mathbf{b}_{6,0,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) - 40 I \left(1, \mathbf{b}_{6,0,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) + 16 I \left(1, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) - 16 I \left(1, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) - 16 I \left(1, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) + 16 I \left(1, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) - \frac{i\pi^2}{12} \tau_A(t) + \frac{\zeta_3}{\pi},$$
(7.19)

$$\begin{split} f_{9,U}^{(2),A}(t) &= 40 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,0,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) - 40 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,0,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) \\ &+ 16 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) - 16 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) \\ &- 16 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) + 16 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) + \frac{\pi^3}{6}, \\ f_{10,U}^A(t) &= 480 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,0,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,1,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) - 480 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,0,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,1,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) \\ &- 192 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,0,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) + 192 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,0,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) \\ &+ 192 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,0,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) - 192 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,0,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) \\ &+ 960 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) - 960 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) \\ &+ 384 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) + 384 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) \\ &- 384 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) + 384 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) \\ &- 384 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) + 384 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) \\ &- 384 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) + 384 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) \\ &- 384 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) - 2I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_A(t) \right) \\ &- 384 I \left(\mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{1},$$

where the MPLs are written as functions of 1/t so that they are real in the region $t \in [t_7, t_8]$.

We finish with a comment on Topology *B*. As already noted, it is obtained from Topology *A* by replacing $t \to 1/t$. In eq. (7.11) we defined the vector of functions $f_A(t)$

with fast-converging representations of the master integrals for all real values of t. We adopt the same conventions for Topology B, i.e. all quantities with an index B admit a piecewise definition. They are simply obtained from those of Topology A using:

$$\vec{f}_B(t) = \vec{f}_A\left(\frac{1}{t}\right) \,. \tag{7.22}$$

Similarly, we have

$$\tau_B(t) = \tau_A\left(\frac{1}{t}\right), \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{S}_B(t) = \mathcal{S}_A\left(\frac{1}{t}\right).$$
(7.23)

In particular, with these relations we can obtain Topology B at $t_{\text{phys}} \in [t_2, t_3]$ from the expressions given above for Topology A for $1/t_{\text{phys}} \in [t_7, t_8]$. As an example, $f_{8,U}^{(2),B}(t_{\text{phys}})$ is obtained from eq. (7.19), giving

$$f_{8,U}^{(2),B}(t_{\rm phys}) = 40 I \left(1, \mathbf{b}_{6,0,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_B(t_{\rm phys}) \right) - 40 I \left(1, \mathbf{b}_{6,0,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_B(t_{\rm phys}) \right) + 16 I \left(1, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_B(t_{\rm phys}) \right) - 16 I \left(1, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,1}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_B(t_{\rm phys}) \right) - 16 I \left(1, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,1}^{(2)}; \tau_B(t_{\rm phys}) \right) + 16 I \left(1, \mathbf{b}_{6,3,2}^{(3)}, \mathbf{a}_{6,0,2}^{(2)}; \tau_B(t_{\rm phys}) \right) - \frac{i\pi^2}{12} \tau_B(t) + \frac{\zeta_3}{\pi}.$$
 (7.24)

8 Three-loop contributions to the ρ parameter

We are now ready to give an expression for the three-loop contributions to the ρ parameter in terms of iterated integrals of modular forms. We start from the expression given in the ancillary files of ref. [44] renormalised in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme and set the regularisation scale $\mu^2 = m_t^2$. The result depends on the SU(N_c) colour factors $C_A = N_c$ and $C_F = (N_c^2 - 1)/(2N_c)$, and on the number of massless quarks $n_l = n_f - 2.3$

In their expressions, the authors of ref. [44] leave the elliptic master integrals associated with diagrams 8, 9 and 10 of figure 1 (and their Topology *B* counterparts) unevaluated, making it particularly convenient to adapt their expression to our convention. For concreteness, we highlight the two main changes we make. First, we recall that we write our results in terms of $t = m_2^2/m_1^2$, whereas the expression of ref. [44] is written for $x = m_2/m_1$. Second, we found it more convenient to compute the masters associated with diagrams 8, 9 of figure 1 in d = 2. Starting from their expression, we thus change variables to t and use the dimension-shifting relations given in appendix B to rewrite them in terms of the masters we have computed. Then, we decompose the three-loop corrections as

$$\delta^{(2)}(t) = \delta^{(2)}_{\rm MPL}(t) + \delta^{(2)}_{\rm ell}(t)$$
(8.1)

where $\delta_{\text{ell}}^{(2)}(t)$ contains all contributions related to the elliptic master integrals $f_8^{(2),A}$, $f_8^{(2),B}$, $f_9^{(2),A}$, $f_9^{(2),A}$, $f_9^{(2),B}$, f_{10}^A and f_{10}^B . The remaining contribution $\delta_{\text{MPL}}^{(2)}(t)$ only depends on MPLs and we do not discuss it further in this paper.

³In the notation of the ancillary files of ref. [44], we set lm = 0, ca = nc and keep the dependence on nc, cf and nl. The SM values correspond to nc = 3, cf = 4/3 and nl = 4.

The elliptic component $\delta_{\rm ell}^{(2)}(t)$ can be written in a very compact form. For that, we define the vector of coefficients

$$\mathcal{C}^{A}(t) = C_{F}N_{c} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{(2C_{F}-N_{c})(t-11)(t-9)t}{144(t-1)} + \frac{(t-9)t(5t^{2}-28t-9)}{108(t-1)^{2}} \\ -\frac{(2C_{F}-N_{c})(t-13)(t-9)(t-3)t}{144(t-1)} - \frac{(t-9)t(7t^{2}-36t-27)}{108(t-1)} \\ \frac{2C_{F}-N_{c}}{12} \end{pmatrix},$$
(8.2)

and its counterpart

$$\mathcal{C}^B(t) = \mathcal{C}^A\left(\frac{1}{t}\right) \,. \tag{8.3}$$

We then find

$$\delta_{\text{ell}}^{(2)}(t) = \left(\mathcal{C}^{A}(t)\right)^{T} \mathcal{S}^{A}(t) \begin{pmatrix} f_{8,U}^{(2),A}(t) \\ f_{9,U}^{(2),A}(t) \\ f_{10,U}^{A}(t) \end{pmatrix} + t \left(\mathcal{C}^{B}(t)\right)^{T} \mathcal{S}^{B}(t) \begin{pmatrix} f_{8,U}^{(2),B}(t) \\ f_{9,U}^{(2),B}(t) \\ f_{9,U}^{B}(t) \\ f_{10,U}^{B}(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(8.4)

More explicitly,

$$\begin{split} & \frac{\delta_{ell}^{(2)}(t)}{C_F N_c} = \frac{1}{12} (2C_f - N_c) \left(f_{10,U}^A(t) + t f_{10,U}^B(t) \right) \\ & - \left(\frac{(2C_F - N_c)(t - 13)(t - 3)}{6(t - 1)^2} + \frac{2 \left(7t^2 - 36t - 27 \right)}{9(t - 1)^2} \right) \frac{f_{9,U}^{(2),A}(t)}{\Psi_1^A(t)} \\ & + \left(\frac{(2C_F - N_c)(t - 11)(t - 9)t}{144(t - 1)} + \frac{(t - 9)t \left(5t^2 - 28t - 9 \right)}{108(t - 1)^2} \right) \Psi_1^A(t) f_{8,U}^{(2),A}(t) \\ & + \left(\frac{(2C_F - N_c)(t - 13)(t - 9)(t - 3)t}{144(t - 1)} + \frac{(t - 9)t \left(7t^2 - 36t - 27 \right)}{108(t - 1)} \right) \Phi_1^A(t) f_{8,U}^{(2),A}(t) \\ & + \left(\frac{(2C_F - N_c)(3t - 1)(13t - 1)t}{6(t - 1)^2} - \frac{2 \left(27t^2 + 36t - 7 \right) t}{9(t - 1)^2} \right) \frac{f_{9,U}^{(2),B}(t)}{\Psi_1^B(t)} \\ & - \left(\frac{(2C_F - N_c)(9t - 1)(11t - 1)}{144(t - 1)t} - \frac{(9t - 1) \left(9t^2 + 28t - 5 \right)}{108(t - 1)^2t} \right) \Psi_1^B(t) f_{8,U}^{(2),B}(t) \\ & + \left(\frac{(2C_F - N_c)(3t - 1)(9t - 1)(13t - 1)}{144(t - 1)t} - \frac{(9t - 1) \left(27t^2 + 36t - 7 \right)}{108(t - 1)^2t} \right) \Phi_1^B(t) f_{8,U}^{(2),B}(t) \\ & + \left(\frac{(2C_F - N_c)(3t - 1)(9t - 1)(13t - 1)}{144(t - 1)t^2} - \frac{(9t - 1) \left(27t^2 + 36t - 7 \right)}{108(t - 1)t^2} \right) \Phi_1^B(t) f_{8,U}^{(2),B}(t) . \end{split}$$

We provide a set of ancillary files⁴ that allows to evaluate $\delta^{(2)}(t)$ from our expression in terms of iterated integrals of modular forms. Using the MATHEMATICA script we provide, we find

$$\delta^{(2)}(t_{\rm phys}) = -9.03594\dots$$
(8.6)

for $t_{\text{phys}} = 5 \cdot 10^{-4}$, $N_c = 3$ and $n_l = 4$. Using the same scripts, we plotted $\delta^{(2)}(t)$ for $t \in [0, 1]$ in figure 2. We find complete agreement with the values results of [39, 44–46].

⁴See arXiv:1912.02747.



Figure 2. Three-loop corrections to the ρ parameter, for $N_c = 3$, $C_F = 4/3$ and $n_l = 4$ massless quarks, as a function of $t = m_2^2/m_1^2$ which we vary between 0 and 1.

9 Conclusion

In this paper we have presented for the first time fully analytic results in terms of eMPLs and iterated Eisenstein integrals for the three-loop corrections to the ρ parameter in the SM with two massive quark flavours. This computation was originally considered as an expansion in the ratio of the quark masses in ref. [44]. An important ingredient in our calculation is the realisation that the homogeneous second-order differential operator appearing in this computation is identical to the differential operator that appears in the computation of the well-known sunrise graph. As a consequence, all integrals can be expressed in terms of the exact same class of functions as the sunrise graph, which are also well-studied functions in pure mathematics. We can draw upon the knowledge of these functions to analytically continue them using tools and algorithms developed for the sunrise graph. This distinguishes our computation from the results of refs. [45, 46], where a novel class of special functions was introduced for the same class of integrals.

Besides ref. [73], our computation is only the second time that iterated integrals of modular forms have been used to obtain fully analytic results for a complete physical observable. We believe that the techniques that we have used in our computation can have an impact also on the computation of other physical observables, and that they pave the way for obtaining more results involving this class of special functions.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Lorenzo Tancredi for discussion. This work was supported in part by the ERC starting grants 637019 "MathAm" (CD), and the grants "2LoopAmps4LHC" (SA) and "ElliptHiggs" of the Fonds National de la Recherche Scientifique (FNRS), Belgium.

A Differential equations for the non-elliptic master integrals

As written in eq. (2.11), the differential equations for the master integrals which are expressible in terms of MPLs, i.e. f_1 through f_7 of eq. (2.10), is given by

$$\partial_t f_a = \epsilon \, \frac{(A_0)_{ak}}{t} f_k + \epsilon \frac{(A_1)_{ak}}{t-1} f_k \,, \qquad 1 \le a, k \le 7 \,. \tag{A.1}$$

The matrices A_0 and A_1 are given by

B Dimension-shift identities for elliptic master integrals

In this appendix we give the dimensional recurrence relations for the master integrals $f_8^{(2)}$ and $f_9^{(2)}$. We denote $f_8^{(d)}$ and $f_9^{(d)}$ the master integrals in *d* dimensions. Then, the full dimensional recurrence relations are given by:

$$f_8^{(4-2\epsilon)} = \frac{1}{6\epsilon^3(1-3\epsilon+2\epsilon^2)(2-9\epsilon+9\epsilon^2)} \left[3\left(6t-21\epsilon t-\epsilon t^2\right) f_1^{(4-2\epsilon)} + \left(12-6t-45\epsilon+21\epsilon t+2\epsilon t^2\right) f_2^{(4-2\epsilon)} + \left(27t-21t^2-7t^3+t^4\right) f_9^{(2-2\epsilon)} + \left(10t^2-9t-t^3-27\epsilon+108\epsilon t-15\epsilon t^2-2\epsilon t^3\right) f_8^{(2-2\epsilon)} \right], \quad (B.1)$$

$$f_{9}^{(4-2\epsilon)} = \frac{1}{6\,\epsilon^{3}\,(-1+3\,\epsilon)(1-3\,\epsilon+2\,\epsilon^{2})} \left[3\,(3-9\,\epsilon-\epsilon\,t)\,f_{1}^{(4-2\epsilon)} + (6\,\epsilon+2\,\epsilon\,t-3)\,f_{2}^{(4-2\epsilon)} + (10\,t-9-t^{2}+8\,\epsilon-2\,\epsilon\,t^{2})\,f_{8}^{(2-2\epsilon)} + (9\,t-10\,t^{2}+t^{3})\,f_{9}^{(2-2\epsilon)} \right]. \tag{B.2}$$

By expanding in ϵ the right-hand side of eqs. (B.1) and (B.2), it is possible to show that the poles of $f_8^{(4-2\epsilon)}$ and $f_9^{(4-2\epsilon)}$ do not depend on $f_8^{(2)}$ and $f_9^{(2)}$. The elliptic contributions

appear starting from order ϵ^0 :

$$\begin{split} f_8^{(4-2\epsilon)} &= \frac{1+t}{\epsilon^3} + \frac{45+48t-t^2-18\log t}{12\epsilon^2} \\ &+ \frac{65+2\pi^2+80t+2\pi^2t-5t^2-48t\log t+2t^2\log t+6t\log^2 t}{8\epsilon} \\ &+ \frac{1}{48} \left[405+45\pi^2+840t+48\pi^2t-145t^2-\pi^2t^2-720t\log t-18\pi^2t\log t \\ &+ 90t^2\log t+144t\log^2 t-6t^2\log^2 t-6t\log^3 t-48\zeta_3-48t\zeta_3 \\ &+ (40t^2-36t-4t^3) f_8^{(2)} + (108t-84t^2-28t^3+4t^4) f_9^{(2)} \right] + O(\epsilon), \end{split}$$
(B.3)
$$f_9^{(4-2\epsilon)} &= -\frac{1}{\epsilon^3} + \frac{t-15+9\log t}{6\epsilon^2} + \frac{4t-16-\pi^2+18\log t-2t\log t-3\log^2 t}{4\epsilon} \\ &+ \frac{1}{24} \left[100t-60-15\pi^2+\pi^2t+252\log t+9\pi^2\log t-72t\log t-54\log^2 t \\ &+ 6t\log^2 t+6\log^3 t+24\zeta_3 + (36-40t+4t^2) f_8^{(2)} + (36t+40t^2-4t^3) f_9^{(2)} \right] \\ &+ O(\epsilon). \end{split}$$

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- A.B. Goncharov, Multiple polylogarithms, cyclotomy and modular complexes, Math. Res. Lett. 5 (1998) 497 [arXiv:1105.2076] [INSPIRE].
- [2] E. Remiddi and J.A.M. Vermaseren, Harmonic polylogarithms, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15 (2000) 725 [hep-ph/9905237] [INSPIRE].
- [3] T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, Two loop master integrals for γ^{*} → 3 jets: the planar topologies, Nucl. Phys. B 601 (2001) 248 [hep-ph/0008287] [INSPIRE].
- [4] J. Vollinga and S. Weinzierl, Numerical evaluation of multiple polylogarithms, Comput. Phys. Commun. 167 (2005) 177 [hep-ph/0410259] [INSPIRE].
- [5] S. Buehler and C. Duhr, CHAPLIN complex harmonic polylogarithms in fortran, Comput. Phys. Commun. 185 (2014) 2703 [arXiv:1106.5739] [INSPIRE].
- [6] H. Frellesvig, D. Tommasini and C. Wever, On the reduction of generalized polylogarithms to Li_n and Li_{2,2} and on the evaluation thereof, JHEP 03 (2016) 189 [arXiv:1601.02649]
 [INSPIRE].
- J. Ablinger, J. Blümlein, M. Round and C. Schneider, Numerical implementation of harmonic polylogarithms to weight w = 8, Comput. Phys. Commun. 240 (2019) 189
 [arXiv:1809.07084] [INSPIRE].
- [8] A. Sabry, Fourth order spectral functions for the electron propagator, Nucl. Phys. 33 (1962) 401.
- [9] D.J. Broadhurst, The master two loop diagram with masses, Z. Phys. C 47 (1990) 115 [INSPIRE].

- S. Bauberger, F.A. Berends, M. Böhm and M. Buza, Analytical and numerical methods for massive two loop selfenergy diagrams, Nucl. Phys. B 434 (1995) 383 [hep-ph/9409388]
 [INSPIRE].
- [11] S. Bauberger and M. Böhm, Simple one-dimensional integral representations for two loop selfenergies: the master diagram, Nucl. Phys. B 445 (1995) 25 [hep-ph/9501201] [INSPIRE].
- M. Caffo, H. Czyz, S. Laporta and E. Remiddi, The master differential equations for the two loop sunrise selfmass amplitudes, Nuovo Cim. A 111 (1998) 365 [hep-th/9805118]
 [INSPIRE].
- [13] S. Laporta and E. Remiddi, Analytic treatment of the two loop equal mass sunrise graph, Nucl. Phys. B 704 (2005) 349 [hep-ph/0406160] [INSPIRE].
- [14] B.A. Kniehl, A.V. Kotikov, A. Onishchenko and O. Veretin, Two-loop sunset diagrams with three massive lines, Nucl. Phys. B 738 (2006) 306 [hep-ph/0510235] [INSPIRE].
- [15] M. Caffo, H. Czyz, M. Gunia and E. Remiddi, BOKASUN: a fast and precise numerical program to calculate the master integrals of the two-loop sunrise diagrams, Comput. Phys. Commun. 180 (2009) 427 [arXiv:0807.1959] [INSPIRE].
- [16] S. Müller-Stach, S. Weinzierl and R. Zayadeh, A second-order differential equation for the two-loop sunrise graph with arbitrary masses, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 6 (2012) 203 [arXiv:1112.4360] [INSPIRE].
- [17] S. Bloch and P. Vanhove, The elliptic dilogarithm for the sunset graph, J. Number Theor. 148 (2015) 328 [arXiv:1309.5865] [INSPIRE].
- [18] E. Remiddi and L. Tancredi, Schouten identities for Feynman graph amplitudes; the master integrals for the two-loop massive sunrise graph, Nucl. Phys. B 880 (2014) 343
 [arXiv:1311.3342] [INSPIRE].
- [19] L. Adams, C. Bogner and S. Weinzierl, The two-loop sunrise graph with arbitrary masses, J. Math. Phys. 54 (2013) 052303 [arXiv:1302.7004] [INSPIRE].
- [20] L. Adams, C. Bogner and S. Weinzierl, The two-loop sunrise graph with arbitrary masses, J. Math. Phys. 54 (2013) 052303 [arXiv:1302.7004] [INSPIRE].
- [21] L. Adams, C. Bogner and S. Weinzierl, The two-loop sunrise graph in two space-time dimensions with arbitrary masses in terms of elliptic dilogarithms, J. Math. Phys. 55 (2014) 102301 [arXiv:1405.5640] [INSPIRE].
- [22] L. Adams, C. Bogner and S. Weinzierl, The two-loop sunrise integral around four space-time dimensions and generalisations of the Clausen and Glaisher functions towards the elliptic case, J. Math. Phys. 56 (2015) 072303 [arXiv:1504.03255] [INSPIRE].
- [23] L. Adams, C. Bogner and S. Weinzierl, The iterated structure of the all-order result for the two-loop sunrise integral, J. Math. Phys. 57 (2016) 032304 [arXiv:1512.05630] [INSPIRE].
- [24] E. Remiddi and L. Tancredi, Differential equations and dispersion relations for Feynman amplitudes. The two-loop massive sunrise and the kite integral, Nucl. Phys. B 907 (2016) 400 [arXiv:1602.01481] [INSPIRE].
- [25] S. Bloch, M. Kerr and P. Vanhove, Local mirror symmetry and the sunset Feynman integral, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 21 (2017) 1373 [arXiv:1601.08181] [INSPIRE].

- [26] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat and L. Tancredi, Elliptic polylogarithms and iterated integrals on elliptic curves II: an application to the sunrise integral, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 116009 [arXiv:1712.07095] [INSPIRE].
- [27] C. Bogner, S. Müller-Stach and S. Weinzierl, The unequal mass sunrise integral expressed through iterated integrals on $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{1,3}$, arXiv:1907.01251 [INSPIRE].
- [28] M. Czakon, P. Fiedler and A. Mitov, Total top-quark pair-production cross section at hadron colliders through $O(\alpha_S^4)$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **110** (2013) 252004 [arXiv:1303.6254] [INSPIRE].
- [29] A. von Manteuffel and L. Tancredi, A non-planar two-loop three-point function beyond multiple polylogarithms, JHEP 06 (2017) 127 [arXiv:1701.05905] [INSPIRE].
- [30] L. Adams, E. Chaubey and S. Weinzierl, Analytic results for the planar double box integral relevant to top-pair production with a closed top loop, JHEP 10 (2018) 206 [arXiv:1806.04981] [INSPIRE].
- [31] L. Adams, E. Chaubey and S. Weinzierl, Planar double box integral for top pair production with a closed top loop to all orders in the dimensional regularization parameter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 142001 [arXiv:1804.11144] [INSPIRE].
- [32] R. Bonciani, V. Del Duca, H. Frellesvig, J.M. Henn, F. Moriello and V.A. Smirnov, Two-loop planar master integrals for Higgs → 3 partons with full heavy-quark mass dependence, JHEP 12 (2016) 096 [arXiv:1609.06685] [INSPIRE].
- [33] R. Bonciani et al., Evaluating two-loop non-planar master integrals for Higgs + jet production with full heavy-quark mass dependence, JHEP 01 (2020) 132 [arXiv:1907.13156] [INSPIRE].
- [34] F. Moriello, Generalised power series expansions for the elliptic planar families of Higgs + jet production at two loops, JHEP **01** (2020) 150 [arXiv:1907.13234] [INSPIRE].
- [35] H. Frellesvig, M. Hidding, L. Maestri, F. Moriello and G. Salvatori, *The complete set of two-loop master integrals for Higgs + jet production in QCD*, arXiv:1911.06308 [INSPIRE].
- [36] M. Becchetti and R. Bonciani, Two-loop master integrals for the planar QCD massive corrections to di-photon and di-jet hadro-production, JHEP 01 (2018) 048
 [arXiv:1712.02537] [INSPIRE].
- [37] M.J.G. Veltman, Limit on mass differences in the Weinberg model, Nucl. Phys. B 123 (1977) 89 [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Djouadi, $O(\alpha \alpha_s)$ vacuum polarization functions of the Standard Model gauge bosons, Nuovo Cim. A 100 (1988) 357 [INSPIRE].
- [39] K.G. Chetyrkin, J.H. Kuhn and M. Steinhauser, Corrections of order $\mathcal{O}(G_F M_t^2 \alpha_s^2)$ to the ρ parameter, Phys. Lett. **B 351** (1995) 331 [hep-ph/9502291] [INSPIRE].
- [40] L. Avdeev, J. Fleischer, S. Mikhailov and O. Tarasov, 0(αα²_s) correction to the electroweak ρ parameter, Phys. Lett. B 336 (1994) 560 [Erratum ibid. B 349 (1995) 597]
 [hep-ph/9406363] [INSPIRE].
- [41] K.G. Chetyrkin, M. Faisst, J.H. Kuhn, P. Maierhofer and C. Sturm, Four-loop QCD corrections to the ρ parameter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 102003 [hep-ph/0605201] [INSPIRE].
- [42] R. Boughezal and M. Czakon, Single scale tadpoles and $O(G_F m_t^2 \alpha_s^3)$ corrections to the ρ parameter, Nucl. Phys. B 755 (2006) 221 [hep-ph/0606232] [INSPIRE].

- [43] Y. Schröder and M. Steinhauser, Four-loop singlet contribution to the rho parameter, Phys. Lett. B 622 (2005) 124 [hep-ph/0504055] [INSPIRE].
- [44] J. Grigo, J. Hoff, P. Marquard and M. Steinhauser, Moments of heavy quark correlators with two masses: exact mass dependence to three loops, Nucl. Phys. B 864 (2012) 580 [arXiv:1206.3418] [INSPIRE].
- [45] J. Ablinger et al., Iterated elliptic and hypergeometric integrals for Feynman diagrams, J. Math. Phys. 59 (2018) 062305 [arXiv:1706.01299] [INSPIRE].
- [46] J. Blümlein, A. De Freitas, M. Van Hoeij, E. Imamoglu, P. Marquard and C. Schneider, The ρ parameter at three loops and elliptic integrals, PoS(LL2018)017 (2018) [arXiv:1807.05287] [INSPIRE].
- [47] K.G. Chetyrkin and F.V. Tkachov, Integration by parts: the algorithm to calculate β -functions in 4 loops, Nucl. Phys. B 192 (1981) 159 [INSPIRE].
- [48] F.V. Tkachov, A theorem on analytical calculability of four loop renormalization group functions, Phys. Lett. B 100 (1981) 65 [INSPIRE].
- [49] A.V. Kotikov, Differential equations method: new technique for massive Feynman diagrams calculation, Phys. Lett. B 254 (1991) 158 [INSPIRE].
- [50] A.V. Kotikov, Differential equations method: the calculation of vertex type Feynman diagrams, Phys. Lett. B 259 (1991) 314 [INSPIRE].
- [51] A.V. Kotikov, Differential equation method: the calculation of N point Feynman diagrams, Phys. Lett. B 267 (1991) 123 [Erratum ibid. B 295 (1992) 409] [INSPIRE].
- [52] E. Remiddi, Differential equations for Feynman graph amplitudes, Nuovo Cim. A 110 (1997) 1435 [hep-th/9711188] [INSPIRE].
- [53] J.M. Henn, Multiloop integrals in dimensional regularization made simple, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 251601 [arXiv:1304.1806] [INSPIRE].
- [54] A. Goncharov, Multiple polylogarithms and mixed Tate motives, math.AG/0103059 [INSPIRE].
- [55] O.V. Tarasov, Connection between Feynman integrals having different values of the space-time dimension, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 6479 [hep-th/9606018] [INSPIRE].
- [56] R.N. Lee, Space-time dimensionality D as complex variable: calculating loop integrals using dimensional recurrence relation and analytical properties with respect to D, Nucl. Phys. B
 830 (2010) 474 [arXiv:0911.0252] [INSPIRE].
- [57] C. Bogner, A. Schweitzer and S. Weinzierl, Analytic continuation and numerical evaluation of the kite integral and the equal mass sunrise integral, Nucl. Phys. B 922 (2017) 528
 [arXiv:1705.08952] [INSPIRE].
- [58] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat and L. Tancredi, Elliptic polylogarithms and iterated integrals on elliptic curves. Part I: general formalism, JHEP 05 (2018) 093 [arXiv:1712.07089] [INSPIRE].
- [59] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, B. Penante and L. Tancredi, *Elliptic Feynman integrals and pure functions*, JHEP 01 (2019) 023 [arXiv:1809.10698] [INSPIRE].
- [60] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, B. Penante and L. Tancredi, Elliptic symbol calculus: from elliptic polylogarithms to iterated integrals of Eisenstein series, JHEP 08 (2018) 014 [arXiv:1803.10256] [INSPIRE].
- [61] F. Brown and A. Levin, Multiple elliptic polylogarithms, arXiv:1110.6917.

- [62] J. Broedel, C.R. Mafra, N. Matthes and O. Schlotterer, Elliptic multiple zeta values and one-loop superstring amplitudes, JHEP 07 (2015) 112 [arXiv:1412.5535] [INSPIRE].
- [63] M. Hidding and F. Moriello, All orders structure and efficient computation of linearly reducible elliptic Feynman integrals, JHEP **01** (2019) 169 [arXiv:1712.04441] [INSPIRE].
- [64] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, B. Penante and L. Tancredi, *Elliptic polylogarithms and* Feynman parameter integrals, JHEP 05 (2019) 120 [arXiv:1902.09971] [INSPIRE].
- [65] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, R. Marzucca, B. Penante and L. Tancredi, An analytic solution for the equal-mass banana graph, JHEP 09 (2019) 112 [arXiv:1907.03787] [INSPIRE].
- [66] C. Duhr and L. Tancredi, Algorithms and tools for iterated Eisenstein integrals, arXiv:1912.00077 [INSPIRE].
- [67] Y.I. Manin, Iterated integrals of modular forms and noncommutative modular symbols, in Algebraic geometry and number theory, Progr. Math. 253, Birkhäuser Boston, MA, U.S.A. (2006), pg. 565 [math.NT/0502576].
- [68] F. Brown, Multiple modular values and the relative completion of the fundamental group of $M_{1,1}$, arXiv:1407.5167.
- [69] F. Brown, Notes on motivic periods, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 11 (2017) 557 [arXiv:1512.06410].
- [70] R.S. Maier, On rationally parametrized modular equations, J. Ramanujan Math. Soc. 24 (2009) 1 [math.NT/0611041].
- [71] L. Adams and S. Weinzierl, Feynman integrals and iterated integrals of modular forms, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 12 (2018) 193 [arXiv:1704.08895] [INSPIRE].
- [72] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, B. Penante and L. Tancredi, From modular forms to differential equations for Feynman integrals, in Proceedings, KMPB Conference: Elliptic Integrals, Elliptic Functions and Modular Forms in Quantum Field Theory, Zeuthen, Germany, 23-26 October 2017, Springer, Cham, Switzerland (2019), pg. 107 [arXiv:1807.00842].
- [73] I. Hönemann, K. Tempest and S. Weinzierl, Electron self-energy in QED at two loops revisited, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 113008 [arXiv:1811.09308] [INSPIRE].